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A WARM WELCOME, EVERY TIME TO EVERY GUEST

A journey with our colleagues at the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon.
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A WELCOMING SMILE AND EFFICIENT GREETING
Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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International Hotel Investments p.l.c. (IHI) was launched 
as a publicly-traded company in 2000 by Corinthia Palace 
Hotel Company Limited (CPHCL), with the intention to 
acquire, develop and operate upscale hotels and ancillary 
real estate, in Europe and beyond, principally in fast-
evolving destinations.

IHI’s investments to date have featured a combination 
of new-construction landmark developments, as also the 
acquisition of existing hotels, where IHI has maximised 
the business potential of each of the acquired hotels by way 
of major refurbishment and expansion projects. Typically, 
IHI has targeted investment opportunities in emerging 
markets as also established destinations, unlocking hidden 
value in landmark real estate. IHI’s policy is to achieve the 
maximum benefit through capital gains in redevelopment, 
as also healthy operating results with ultimate appreciation 
of the property over the years.

To date, IHI has acquired and developed eight landmark 
hotel projects, in Prague (Czech Republic), Tripoli 
(Libya), Lisbon (Portugal), Budapest (Hungary),  
St Petersburg (Russian Federation), two in St George’s 
Bay (Malta) and in London (United Kingdom).

In 2007, IHI welcomed Istithmar Hotels of Dubai as 
another major, strategic shareholder in the Company. 
IHI is proud to bring together such an esteemed group of 
committed and strong shareholders.

IHI is the shareholder in a hotel management company 
– CHI Limited (CHI). In support of its investments and 
developments in the hotel sector, IHI is also a strategic 
shareholder in QP Mnagement Limited, a construction 
project management company having a specialist track 
record in the management of major hotel construction and 
refurbishment projects in a wide range of countries. Through 
this association, IHI is reassured of its interests in all its hotel 
projects, adopting an intimate, direct involvement in the 
planning and execution of investment projects.

CPHCL is a joint venture between the Pisani family 
of Malta and the Libyan Foreign Investment Company 
(LAFICO), which joined the company in 1974. CPHCL 
has since grown to be the leading private company in 
Malta with ownership and management interests in 
hotels worldwide. 

Istithmar Hotels is an integrated hotel development, 
investment and asset management business based in Dubai, 
United Arab Emirates.

INTRODUCTION
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PERFECTION IS IN THE DETAIL

Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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CHI
Hotel operator

20%100%

QP Management
Project Management Company

OWNED HOTELS
Corinthia Hotel & Residences London 294 bedrooms + 1 penthouse apartment (50% ownership)
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg 388 bedrooms + shopping mall + office block
Corinthia Hotel Budapest 414 bedrooms + 26 luxury apartments
Corinthia Hotel Prague 539 bedrooms
Corinthia Hotel Lisbon 518 bedrooms
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli 299 bedrooms + office block
Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay, Malta 250 bedrooms
Marina Hotel Malta 200 bedrooms

  2,902 bedrooms + 27 residences + mall + 2 office blocks

MANAGED HOTELS
Corinthia Palace Hotel & Spa 152 bedrooms
Corinthia Hotel Khartoum 230 bedrooms
Ramada Plaza Tunisia 309 bedrooms
Aquincum Hotel Budapest 310 bedrooms  
Panorama Hotel Prague 440 bedrooms

 1,441 bedrooms

OWNED & MANAGED ROOMS 4,343 bedrooms        

INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVESTMENTS p.l.c.

THE IHI GROUP
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Joseph J Vella is a partner in a leading law practice, and a 
director on the boards of several major companies.

Joe Pisani is a founder director and member of the main 
board of Corinthia Palace Hotel Company Limited, and 
has served on a number of boards of subsidiary companies. 

Abuagila Almahdi has served as Deputy Managing 
Director of Libyan Foreign Investment Company until he 
was appointed Vice Chairman of Corinthia Palace Hotel 
Company Limited. He is also Chairman of Medelec 
Switchgear Limited.

Douraid Zaghouani is Chief Operating Officer of the 
Investment Corporation of Dubai (ICD). Prior to joining 
ICD, Mr Zaghouani was with Xerox where he was 
Chairman of the Board of several companies.

Hamad Buamim is President and CEO of Dubai Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry and serves as the Deputy 
Chairman of the World Chambers Federation – ICC 
- in Paris. He is a member of the Board of Directors of 
the UAE Central Bank, Chairman of National General 
Insurance and Board Member of Union Properties.

Alfred Pisani is the Chairman of IHI. He founded and 
heads the Corinthia Group, IHI’s principal shareholder. The 
Corinthia Group is a leading international hotel developer, 
investor and operator, with interests in several countries.

Khaled Algonsel is Managing Director of Libyan 
Foreign Investment Company. He is Chairman of Libya 
Investment Company, Egypt and Vice Chairman of Arab 
Petroleum Investments Corporation, Saudi Arabia.

Abdulnaser Ahmida is Head of the Financial Analysis 
Department at Libyan Foreign Investment Company 
where he also served from 1997 to 2007.

Michael Beckett has considerable expertise as an 
independent director in international mining, industrial 
and leisure companies. Among other directorships, 
Mr Beckett is currently non-Executive Chairman of 
Endeavour Financial Corporation in Canada and non-
Executive Director of Northam Platinum in South Africa.

Frank Xerri de Caro joined the Board of IHI in 2005, 
having previously been the CEO of Bank of Valletta, 
besides serving on the boards of directors of several major 
financial, banking and insurance institutions. He is also 
Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the IHI 
Audit Committee. 

Alfred Fabri has been Company Secretary since IHI’s 
inception. He joined the Corinthia Group in 1989 and  
has occupied various senior positions in the private and 
public sectors.

left to right
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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to submit my annual report to you as Chairman 
of the IHI Group.

In all these years of our business, never can I recall seeing 
the best and the worst of times rolled into one year as we 
did in 2014.

We had the best of times at our hotels in Malta, Budapest, 
Prague, Lisbon and London, with all our businesses there 
achieving record profit. On the other hand, we had to endure 
significant force majeure challenges in Tripoli and St Petersburg, 
with reduced profits in these businesses when measured against 
previous years. Nevertheless, the final balance for the year has 
been a creditable financial performance.  In fact, our Company 
achieved an EBITDA in 2014 of €35 million, inclusive of our 
50 per cent share in the Corinthia Hotel in London.  

Għeżież Azzjonisti,

Għandi pjaċir nippreżentalkom ir-Rapport Annwali bħala 
Chairman tal-Grupp IHI.

Ma niftakar l-ebda sena, kemm ilna mwaqqfin, li fiha rajt 
l-aħjar u l-agħar magħġuna flimkien f’sena waħda daqs 
kemm rajna fl-2014.

Ksibna l-aqwa riżultati li qatt ksibna fil-lukandi tagħna ta’ 
Malta, Budapest, Praga, Lisbona u Londra, li kollha spiċċaw 
bi profitti rekord. Minn naħa l-oħra, kellna niffaċċaw sfidi 
kbar kawża ta’ force majeure fi Tripli u San Petruburgu, bi 
profitti baxxi meta mqabbla ma’ dawk tas-snin ta’ qabel.  
Madankollu, ir-riżultat finanzjarju finali tas-sena ma 
jgħamlilniex għajb.  Fil-fatt, il-Kumpanija rreġistrat EBITDA 
fl-2014 ta’ €35 miljun, li parti minnhom ġew mill-50 fil-mija 
sehem li għandna fil-Corinthia Hotel ta’ Londra.

Alfred Pisani 

INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVESTMENTS p.l.c.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
for the Year ended 31 December 2014
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L-EBITDA fil-lukandi Corinthia fi Praga, Budapest u Lisbona, 
kif ukoll dawk fil-lukandi tal-IHI Corinthia u Marina f’San 
Ġiljan, żdied b’41 fil-mija fuq dak tal-2013, xhieda taż-żieda fil-
kompettività tagħna fis-swieq globali tal-lukandi. Il-Corinthia 
ta’ Londra, li fiha IHI għandha sehem ta’ 50 fil-mija, kompliet 
issaħħah il-pożizzjoni tagħha fost il-lukandi l-aktar lussużi 
f’dik il-belt.

Minn naħa l-oħra, l-inċertezzi li kien hemm fi Tripli fl-2014 
kienu l-kawża għaliex l-EBITDA totali tal-lukandi u l-uffiċċji 
li għandna hemmhekk kienet biss ta’ €4.22 miljun, li ġew mill-
kera tal-uffiċċji kummerċjali mikrija lil għadd ta’ fost l-aqwa 
kumpaniji internazzjonali taż-żejt wara tnaqqis tat-telf reġistrat 
mill-operat tal-lukanda.

F’San Petruburgu, l-effett kumulattiv tas-sanzjonijiet imposti 
fuq il-Federazzjoni Russa u l-iżvalutar tar-Rublu, ħallew impatt 
fuq il-profitti, kif rappurtati fl-ewro, tal-lukanda t’ħemmhekk. 
Numru ta’ konferenzi internazzjonali u laqgħat oħra li kellhom 
isiru f’dik il-belt matul is-sena ġew kanċellati jew imnaqqsa, waqt 
li d-domanda mis-settur tal-business kien baxx. Il-management 
tal-lukanda għalhekk beda jagħfas aktar fuq is-suq domestiku 
Russu, li hu importanti, u li issa qed jiprovdi lill-lukanda nofs 
il-klijenti kollha tagħha.

L-2014 kienet għalhekk waħda li matulha rajna xejriet differenti. 
Kważi fil-lukandi tagħna kollha, qbiżna l-miri tagħna, grazzi 
għall-ħila  tagħna bħala operaturi, kapaċità li dejjem qed tkompli 
tikber, u għall-Corinthia Brand li hi magħrufa  globalment. 
Komplejna nsegwu bir-reqqa l-iżviluppi fi Tripli u r-Russja, u 
ħadna għadd ta’ miżuri iebsa biex kemm jista' jkun ipattu għan-
nuqqas fl-operat hemmhekk. Kollox ma’ kollox, ir-riżultat kien 
wieħed pożittiv u ta’ flessibilità meta wieħed iqis il-fatturi kollha.

Bħal kull sena, id-Diretturi tagħkom qiesu l-valur kurrenti tal-
lukandi u l-proprjetajiet kummerċjali tal-Kumpanija. Il-lukandi 
ta’ Malta, Praga, Budapest, Lisbona u Londra ġew valutati minn 
esperti independenti u ġie stabbilit li l-valur tagħhom żdied b’ 
€45 miljun, u dan minħabba profitti akbar u prospetti aħjar 
għall-futur. Fl-istess waqt, fuq il-parir tal-esperti, id-Diretturi 
aċċettaw li jnaqqsu l-valur tal-lukandi u ċ-ċentri kummerċjali 
ta’ Tripli u San Petruburgu b' €70 miljun. Minkejja dan, il-
valur totali tal-assi tal-Kumpanija xorta għadu jlaħħaq għal 
ftit aktar minn €1 biljun.

Għeżież Azzjonisti,

Dan hu l-15-ir-Rapport tiegħi minn mindu waqqafna l-IHI 
f’Marzu tas-sena 2000. IHI innifisha tnisslet mill-Grupp 
Corinthia, li l-familja tiegħi u jien waqqafna fl-1962, u li sa 
llum għanda l-mġġuranza tal-ishma tal-IHI. Mis-sena 2000, 
aħna ffukajna fuq is-settur tal-lukandi f’l-ambitu ta’ din il-
kumpanija pubblika, li ġabet magħha corporate governance 
aktar ben definit, strutturi maniġerjali professjonali, u 
strateġiji ta’ finanzjament li għamluha possibbli li nsibu u 
nilqgħu fostna soċji ġodda bħala azzjonisti tagħna.

Meta waqqafna l-IHI din kellha biss il-Corinthia Hotel St 
George's Bay bħala lukanda li kienet qed topera, u biċċa art 
ġo Budapest li fuqha mbagħad bnejna il-lukanda Corinthia 
u proprjetà residenzjali. Għalhekk wieħed ma jistax ma jarax 
kemm imxejna l-quddiem f’dawn l-ahhar 15-il sena. Illum 
l-assi tal-IHI kibru għal aktar minn biljun ewro, l-aktar 
bis-saħħa tal-valur tal-investimenti tagħna fil-lukandi u 

EBITDA in the Corinthia Hotels in Prague, Budapest and 
Lisbon, as well as IHI’s Corinthia and Marina Hotels in St 
Julian’s, Malta, increased 41 per year-on-year over 2013, reflecting 
Corinthia’s increasing competitiveness in the global hotel markets. 
The Corinthia in London, of which IHI owns 50 per cent, 
maintained its steady consolidation among the city’s foremost 
luxury operations.  

On the other hand, the prevailing uncertainties in Tripoli 
throughout 2014, meant that the joint EBITDA from the hotel 
and offices was limited to €4.22 million which was achieved 
from the rental of the commercial offices occupied by blue chip 
international oil firms less the operating loss registered on the 
operation of the hotel. 

Likewise, in St Petersburg, the cumulative effect of 
international sanctions on the Russian Federation and the 
devaluation of the Rouble impacted the profits of that hotel 
when measured in Euro. Major international events and 
meetings scheduled for the city throughout the year were 
cancelled or scaled down, while corporate travel to the city 
was subdued. Management shifted the hotel’s focus onto the 
important domestic Russian market, which now accounts for 
more than half of the hotel’s customers. 

2014 was thus a mixed year for us. We exceeded all 
expectations in almost all of our hotels thanks to our 
increasing capabilities as hotel operators and a globally 
recognized Corinthia Brand. We also maintained a watchful 
eye on developments in Tripoli and Russia where we took a 
series of tough measures to mitigate the downturn in business 
in these operations. The overall net result is a positive and 
resilient performance when one considers all factors.

As every year, your Directors have also taken a view on the 
current value of each of the Company’s hotels and commercial 
properties. The hotels in Malta, Prague, Budapest, Lisbon and 
London were valued by independent parties and registered  an 
increased combined value of €45 million, as a result of higher 
earnings and brighter prospects. At the same time, the Directors, 
on the basis of expert advice, have agreed to reduce the value of 
the hotels and commercial centres in Tripoli and St Petersburg by 
€70 million. Nevertheless, the combined value of the Company’s 
assets still remains just over €1 billion.  

Dear Shareholders,

This is my 15th report to you since we founded IHI in March 
2000. IHI itself was an evolution from the Corinthia Group, 
which my family and I founded in 1962 and which remains the 
major shareholder in IHI. Since 2000, our focus in the hotel 
sector has been organized within the remit of this public company, 
bringing with it further well-defined corporate governance, 
professional management structures and fund-raising strategies 
that have enabled us to reach out and welcome new partners as 
shareholders in our business. 

We have indeed come a long way over these 15 years when you 
consider that we started IHI only having the Corinthia Hotel 
St George’s Bay as an operating property and a vacant site in 
Budapest where we later developed the Corinthia Hotel and 
Residences. Today, IHI’s asset base has grown to a value in 
excess of one billion Euro, principally by way of the value of our 
investments in the hotels and commercial real estate in Prague, 
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Malta, Budapest, St Petersburg, Lisbon, Tripoli and London. 
Besides owning these properties as investments, we have 
also developed a body of knowledge and expertise in the 
fields of hotel operations and, separately, as developers and 
asset managers. 

Our business as hotel operators falls under the responsibility of 
CHI Limited, using the brand of Corinthia Hotels, a subsidiary 
wholly owned by IHI. CHI not only manages hotels owned 
by IHI, but also seven other hotels that are owned or under 
development by other parties. In the course of its growth, 
Corinthia Hotels has now established itself amongst the leading 
global hotel companies, with a team of professionals across all 
hotel activities.

We have in parallel gained a track record in property 
development and asset management, which we have organized 
into a distinct and separately owned subsidiary, with its 
own growth targets, and named Corinthia Developments 
International. This company will identify real estate 
opportunities, structure acquisitions and funding strategies 
for such companies, and lead such projects from conception 
to completion on behalf of third party investors.

Both these services, as originators and developers of real 
estate projects in the hotel and commercial fields as also the 
management of hotels, are in fact complementary businesses 
that feed into one another and make IHI quite unique in 
the hotel world. Going forward, we want to build upon 
this skill set, in fact we are already identifying investment 
opportunities with a view of signing up  contracts in the near 

proprjetajiet immobiljari oħra fi Praga, Malta, Budapest, San 
Petruburgu, Lisbona, Tripli u Londra. Barra l-investiment 
li għandna f’dawn il-proprjetajiet, akkwistajna f’l-istess ħin 
esperjenza u għerf sew fil-qasam tal-operazzjoni tal-lukandi, 
kif ukoll f’l-iżvilupp u l-immaniġjar tal-assi.

Il-business tagħna bħala operaturi tal-lukandi hu fdat f’idejn 
CHI Limited, kumpanija sussidjarja kollha kemm hi tal-
IHI, u li tuża l-brand ta’ Corinthia Hotels. CHI ma toperax 
biss lukandi tal-IHI, iżda wkoll ħames lukandi oħra li diġa 
għandhom terzi persuni jew li qed jiżviluppaw. Tul is-snin, 
Corinthia Hotels ħadet postha fost il-kumpaniji ewlenin fl-
immaniġjar tal-lukandi, b’tim ta’ nies professjonali f’kull 
qasam li għandu x’jaqsam mal-lukandi.

F’l-istess ħin,  għamilna isem għalina f’l-iżviluppar ta’ 
proprjetà u l-asset management, li ġew fdati f’idejn 
kumpanija sussidjarja separata, b’miri tagħha ta’ tkabbir, u 
cioè Corinthia Developments International. Din il-kumpanija 
tieħu ħsieb tidentifika opportunitajiet għal żviluppar ta’ 
proprjetà immobbli, tirristrutura l-akkwist ta’ propjetà  u 
l-istrateġija ta’ ġbir tal-kapital meħtieġ, u tmexxi proġetti 
ta’ investituri terzi mill-bidu sal-aħħar.

Dawn is-servizzi – l-ippjanar u żvilupp ta’ proprjetà immobbli 
f’l-oqsma tal-lukandi u l-proprjetà kummerċjali, kif ukoll 
l-immaniġjar tal-lukandi – jikkumplimentaw u jgħinu lil xulxin, 
u f’dan ir-rigward jagħmlu l-IHI kumpanija unika fid-dinja 
tal-ospitalità. Fi ħsiebna nkomplu nibnu fuq il-ħiliet li ksibna 
f’dawn l-oqsma u diġa' qegħdin nidentifikaw opportunitajiet 
ta’ investiment biex fil-futur qarib inkunu nistgħu nidħlu 

SWIFT SERVICE FROM A TANTALISING CHOICE
Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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f’kuntratti li jwasslu biex il-kumpaniji tagħna jagħmlu qligħ 
bħala żviluppaturi u operaturi, aktar milli bħala investituri. 
Dan jgħin ukoll biex il-bandiera tal-Corinthia tittajjar f’għadd 
akbar ta’ bliet ewlenin madwar id-dinja. L-2015 ser tkun sena 
importanti fejn jidħol dan.

Il-Bord tad-Diretturi tagħkom qed jistudja wkoll l-aħjar mod 
ta’ kif jirrealiżża l-valur tal-assi immobiljarji li għandna u 
li bnejna matul is-snien. Wasal iż-żmien li nikkunsidraw il-
bejgħ ta’ xi wħud mill-assi tagħna, basta dan isir fil-mument 
propizju u lill-klijent ġust, b’l-aħjar prezz possibbli, u bil-
kundizzjoni li Corinthia Hotels tinżamm bħala l-operatur. 
Biex din l-istrateġija tkun suċċess, irridu niddisponu minn 
dawn l-assi fuq perijodu medium term, fiż-żmien meta jaqbel 
lilna, u skond l-andament tas-suq. Per eżempju, bħalissa 
żgur mhux iż-żmien ideali biex nikkunsidraw il-bejgħ tal-
assi tagħna li għandna f’San Petruburgu jew Tripli. Minn 
naħa l-oħra, is-sehem li għandna fil-lukanda ta’ Londra qed 
ikompli jiġbed interess, u jista’ jkun li nikkunsidraw nagħmlu 
dan jekk iċ-ċirkustanzi jkunu dawk ġusti.

Biex inkomplu mmexxu l-Kumpanija 'l quddiem, qegħdin nagħmlu 
riorganiżżazzjoni tal-istruttura maniġerjali tagħna. Qsamna 
r-rwol ta’ CEO bejn Joseph Fenech, li ser jassumi risponsabbilità 
għall-istrateġija finanzjarja u l-amministrazzjoni tal-Grupp u 
Simon Naudi li ser jieħu f’idejħ dak kollu li għandu x’jaqsam 
mal-iżvilupp, it-tkabbir, u l-operat tal-lukandi. Dawn iż-żewg 
sinjuri u ħafna oħrajn ħadmu mill-qrib miegħi tul medda ta’ 
snin, u jien fiduċjuż li flimkien ser noħolqu ambjent aħjar biex 
nistgħu inkomplu nikbru u nżidu l-qligħ. 

Fejn tidħol Malta, qegħdin nieħdu passi wkoll biex insaħħu 
l-proprjetajiet tagħna u ngawdu kemm jista' jkun mid-domanda 
dejjem tikber għall-akkomodazzjoni u bini residenzjali. Il-fatt 
li aħna s-sidien sew tal-Corinthia Hotel St Georeg's Bay u tal-
lukanda ta’ ħdejha, il-Marina Hotel, jagħtina preċiżament din 
l-opportunità. Dawn jinsabu f’waħda mill-aqwa lokalitajiet ta’ 
Malta, u l-akkwist tal-Island Hotels Group, li għandu l-lukanda 
ta’ ħdejhom, ir-Radisson Hotel, ikompli jsaħħaħ il-pożizzjoni 
tagħna f’din il-parti prestiġjuza ta’ pajjiżna. Dawn it-tliet lukandi 
eventwalment ser jiġu żviluppati f’lukandi lussużi għal klijenti minn 
diversi setturi, inkluż dawk ta l-għola klassi, u ser ikollhom żvillupp 
residenzjali, ħwienet u proprjetà  kummerċjali tal-aqwa kwalità, 
immirati lejn is-suq ta’ sitt stilel li Malta għandha suq għaliħ.

Diġà sar ħafna xogħol fuq dan. Għaddej kontinwamant żvilupp 
fuq id-disinn ta’ dan l-proġett u l-akkwist tal-IHG ser jiġi 
preżentat fil-Laqgħa Ġenerali Annwali għall-approvazzjoni 
tal-azzjonisti. Qed nittamaw li nibdew ix-xogħolijiet fl-2016, u 
niżviluppaw il-proġett f’fażijiet konsekuttivi u b’konsultazzjoni 
sħiħa mal-partijiet kollha interessati, mhux l-anqas mal-
impjegati u l-kollegi li aħna risponsabbli għalihom.

L-akkwist tal-IHG jġib miegħu żewg tipi ġodda ta’ attività 
kummerċjali. L-ewwelnett, IHG għandha sehem ta’ 50 fil-
mija fil-Golden Sands Hotel f’Malta, attività ta’ timeshare 
li ser inkomplu nkabbru fis-snin li ġejjin. It-tieni, IHG hi 
stabbilita sew fil-qasam tal-catering, bħala franchisee ta’ 
Costa Coffee f’Malta u fi Spanja, kif ukoll fis-suq tal-catering 
industrijali u tal-‘events’. Sejrin namalgamaw dan is-settur 
ma’ dak diġà estensiv tal-kumpanija tal-catering tagħna, u 
norganizzaw il-firxa ta’ servizzi f’ attività koesiva waħda, 
li għandha tkun l-aqwa kumpanija tal-catering f’pajjiżna.

future that will see our companies earn fees as developers 
and operators without the need to act as investors. This will 
have the added benefit of rolling out our Corinthia flag in 
yet more global capitals.  2015 will be an important year 
in developing this business.

Your Board of Directors is also considering the right path 
towards the realization of value that has been created in our 
existing property portfolio over the years. The time has come 
for us to entertain the sale of any of our assets, provided that 
we sell at the right time and to the right buyer whilst ensuring 
we receive maximum value, and with the over-riding condition 
that Corinthia Hotels is retained as an operator. The key to 
this strategy will be to manage the disposal of assets over a 
medium term period, only when it suits us, and in line with 
market cycles. For example, clearly, now may not be the right 
time to entertain the sale of our assets in St Petersburg or 
Tripoli. On the other hand, our share in the London hotel 
continues to attract interest and pursuing this option could 
very much be on the cards for us under the right circumstances.

In taking the Company forward, we have also taken steps 
to reorganize our management structure and create a joint 
CEO role with Joseph Fenech assuming responsibility 
for financing strategies and corporate affairs and Simon 
Naudi taking forward our development, growth and hotel 
operations. These gentlemen and many others have worked 
closely with me over several years and I am confident that 
together we can create the right environment for further 
growth and profitability.

Closer to home, here in Malta, we are also taking steps to 
consolidate our property holdings and take advantage of the 
ever increasing demand for accommodation and residential 
units. Our ownership of the Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay 
and the neighbouring Marina Hotel provide us with precisely 
this opportunity. This location is one of the best in Malta and 
our acquisition of the Island Hotels Group owning the Radisson 
Hotel next door further consolidates our position. The three 
hotels will make way over time to a mixed-use development that 
will feature multiple luxury hotels, attracting high net leisure 
and corporate guests, as well as high-end residential, retail and 
commercial facilities targeting a six-star market that Malta has 
the potential to attract.

Work on this project is well advanced. Design development is 
ongoing and the acquisition of the Island Hotels Group (IHG) 
will be presented for ratification at our Annual General Meeting. 
We hope to commence works in 2016, and take this project 
forward in a phased manner in full consultation with all interested 
parties, not least our employees and colleagues for whom we 
are responsible.

The acquisition of IHG also includes two new separate business 
activities. Firstly, IHG owns a 50 per cent share in the Golden 
Sands Hotel in Malta, a timeshare operation, which we 
shall continue to grow in years ahead. Secondly, IHG is well 
established in the field of catering, as a franchisee of Costa 
Coffee in Malta and Spain, as also in various industrial and 
events catering businesses. We shall consolidate this business 
into our own extensive catering company and reorganize the 
range of services into a cohesive activity that will be our country’s 
foremost catering company.
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COMBINING IMAGINATION, INGENUITY AND GENUINE INGREDIENTS

Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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Għeżież Azzjonisti, dan l-akkwist ta’ IHG ser ifisser  fażi ġdida 
għal IHI. Ser nirrealiżżaw il-valur li fihom l-investimenti fil-
proprjetà li għamilna, u bis-saħħa ta’ dan inkabbru l-business 
tagħna ta’ żviluppaturi u operaturi ta’ lukandi ta' lussu u 
proprjetà immobbli.

Ser immorru wkoll ħal sorsi ġodda ta’ finanzjament, biex b’hekk 
ikollna flus kemm jista’ jkun għall-ħtiġijiet tal-Kumpanija u għal 
investiment ġdid. Fil-fatt, f’l-2015 għandna f’moħna li noħorġu 
bond ‘secured’ internazzjonali sa ammont ta’ €170 miljun, biex 
inroddu lura s-self bankarju li għandhom erbgħa mill-proprjetajiet 
tagħna f’l-Ewropa, liema dejn hu ‘secured’ b’l-istess proprjetajiet. 
Dan ifisser li dawk il-fondi li bħalissa qed imorru biex iħallsu lura 
dan is-self ikunu imbagħad għad-dispozizzjoni tal-Kumpanija. 

Id-diffikultajiet li kellna nħabbtu wiċċna magħhom is-sena li 
għaddiet fi Tripli u San Petruburgu ma jippermettux li nħallsu 
dividend għall-2014. Minħabba li tant konna xtaqna li nkomplu 
nippremjaw lill-azzjonisti ‘free-float’ tagħna b’dividends regolari, 
il-Bord, sabiex itaffi xi ftit is-sitwazzjoni, qed jipproponi numru 
ta’ alternattivi oħra għall-azzjonisti pubbliċi tagħna. Għaddejjin 
diskussjonijiet mar-Regulatur biex naraw kif nistgħu inwettqu dan.

Ġaladarba jkollna l-approvazzjoni tar-Regulatur, bi ħsiebna 
niċċirkulaw nota li tispjega aktar fid-dettal dawn il-proposti, 
meta dawn jistgħu jiġu mplimentati.

Nixtieq nagħlaq billi nirringrazzja lid-Diretturi sħabi u 
l-kollegi kollha tagħna għax-xogħol u l-għajnuna tagħhom bla 
waqfien. Wieħed ma jistgħax ma jsemmix, b’mod partikolari, 
lill-management u l-kollegi tagħna fi Tripli, li kellhom iħabbtu 
wiċċhom ma sfidi li żgur imorru oltre mid-doveri normali 
tagħhom. Il-kuraġġ u d-determinazzjoni li wera l-management 
fuq il-post għandhom ikunu ta’ ispirazzjoni għalina lkoll 
biex niżguraw li nibżgħu sew għall-business tagħna tal-
lukandi. Fil-fatt, il-lukanda fi Tripli issa reġgħet fetħet il-
bibien tagħha, b’servizzi anqas relattiv għad-domanda li 
hemm bħalissa. Madankollu, aħna għad għandna tamiet 
kbar għall-Libja u ninsabu lesti biex nagħmlu l-parti tagħna 
bħala investituri barranin u żviluppaturi ewliena meta tidħol 
aktar sigurtà.

Nirringrazzjakom ilkoll għall-għajnuna sostenuta u leali 
tagħkom, u jalla inħarsu flimkien lejn il-futur bil-kuraġġ u 
b’konvinzjoni li dan ser ikun aħjar mill llum.

Grazzi.

Dear Shareholders, this acquisition of IHG heralds a new 
phase for IHI. We shall crystallize value in the property 
investments we have made and use this platform of acquisition 
to grow our business as a developer and operator of luxury 
hotels and real estate.

We shall also pursue new forms of funding, with the aim to 
liberate as much cash flow as possible for corporate needs and 
for the funding of new business. In fact, in 2015, we intend to 
issue a new, secured international bond, up to €170 million in 
value, to replace existing bank debt on four of our properties in 
Europe and secured by the same properties. This will mean that 
funds currently employed towards bank capital repayments on 
these properties will henceforth be available to the Company. 

Last year’s difficulties with Tripoli and St Petersburg removed any 
possibility of dividend distribution for 2014. As we had so much 
wished that we continue to reward our free-float shareholders 
with regular dividends, the Board, in order to mitigate the 
situation to some degree is proposing to offer a range of alternative 
options to our public shareholders. We are in discussions with 
the Regulator as to how best to achieve this objective. 

It is our intention that once we have regulatory approval we 
shall circulate an explanatory note providing additional details 
on these proposals as also indicating when the options become 
available and the duration of the option period.
 
I wish to conclude by thanking my fellow Directors and 
all our colleagues for their unbending work and support. 
Not least, a special mention must go to our management 
and colleagues in Tripoli, who have endured challenges 
far beyond the normal call of duty. The courage and 
determination shown by our management on site continues 
to inspire all of us in ensuring that our hotel business is 
well looked after. In fact, the hotel in Tripoli is now back 
in operation, with limited services matching the reduced 
demand. However, we continue to have high hopes for 
Libya and stand poised to fulfill our role as a major foreign 
investor and developer once the right security conditions 
are in place.

May I thank you all for your sustained and loyal support and 
may we together look forward with courage and conviction to 
better times ahead.

Thank you.

Alfred Pisani
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The newly refurbished lobby at the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased to report that 2014 has been a good 
year for the IHI Group on several fronts.

We increased EBITDA earnings by 41 per cent 
year-on-year in our EU-based hotel operations 
in Malta, Prague, Budapest, Lisbon and London, 
despite challenging economies in many of our host 
countries and principal feeder markets. In Russia, 
our hotel’s performance in St Petersburg suffered 
as a result of economic sanctions and a devalued 
Rouble, both leading to a decline in foreign visitors.

Gheziez Azzjonisti,

Ghandna pjacir nirrappurtaw li l-2014 kienet sena 
tajba ghall-Grupp IHI f’diversi aspetti.

Zidna l-EBITDA b’41 fil-mija fil-lukandi taghna 
bazati fl-UE  –  Malta, Praga, Budapest, Lisbona u 
Londra – minkejja d-diffikultajiet ekonomici f’hafna 
mill-pajjizi fejn jinsabu dawn il-lukandi jew minn fejn 
l-aktar jiguna l-klijenti. Fir-Russja, il-lukanda taghna 
f’San Petruburgu sofriet minhabba sanzjonijiet 
ekonomici u l-izvalutar tar-Rublu, li t-tnejn wasslu 
ghal anqas barranin izuru r-Russja.

INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVESTMENTS p.l.c.

JOINT CEOs' REPORT 
for the Year ended 31 December 2014

Joseph Fenech Simon Naudi

Traditionally, this has been the 
Managing Director’s Report. As of this 
year, following a re-organisation of the 
Company, Joseph Fenech and Simon 
Naudi have been appointed as joint CEOs 
and henceforth this Report will be one 
prepared by both incumbents.

Dan s’issa dejjem kien ir-Rapport tad-
Direttur Maniġerjali. Minn dis-sena, wara 
li saret riorganizzazzjoni tal-Kumpanija, 
Joseph Fenech u Simon Naudi inħatru 
bhala joint CEOs u minn issa ‘l quddiem 
dar-Rapport ser ikun imħejji minnhom it-
tnejn flimkien.
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On the other hand, we redirected our efforts to attract 
Russian guests and targeted revenue from our leasing 
income at our adjoining retail mall and commercial 
offices. In Libya, our hotel in Tripoli likewise endured a 
challenging year, with civil strife dampening demand for 
hotel accommodation. Here too, however, we maintained 
a steady income from the leasing of our commercial offices 
adjoining the hotel.

The year under review has therefore emphasised the 
diversification of our business and the benefits this has 
brought. Only five years ago, two-thirds of our EBITDA was 
derived from our investment in Tripoli. Today, our EBITDA 
earnings reflect a fully balanced composition in terms of 
importance and profitability of all our other investments in 
Europe. The table hereunder visually highlights this.

Please allow us to review each of our hotels and operations 
individually when compared to 2013:

Minn-naħa l-oħra, għamilna sforz akbar biex niġbdu 
klijenti Russi u nilħqu l-miri tad-dħul mill-kiri tal-ħwienet 
u uffiċċji li hemm biswit il-lukanda. Fil-Libja, il-lukanda 
tagħna fi Tripli għaddiet minn sena diffiċli minħabba 
l-inkwiet fil-pajjiż li wassal għal nuqqas fid-domanda 
fis-settur tal-ospitalità. Hawn ukoll, iżda, irnexxielna 
nżommu dħul regolari mill-kirjiet tal-uffiċċji kummerċjali 
li jmissu mal-lukanda.

Din is-sena li qed inħarsu lejha għalhekk saħqet fuq id-
diversifikazzjoni tal-business tagħna u l-benefiċċji li dan 
ġab miegħu. Ħames snin ilu biss, żewġ terzi tal-EBITDA 
tagħna kien ġej mill-investiment tagħna fi Tripli. Illum, 
l-EBITDA tagħna hu mifrux b’mod tassew bilanċjat f’dak li 
hu importanza u profitabilità tal-investimenti tagħna l-oħra 
kollha fl-Ewropa. Dan jidher ċar mit-tabella ta’ hawn taħt.

Ħalli nduru waħda waħda l-lukandi tagħna u naraw kif 
marru meta mqabbla mal-2013:

Operating profits are up 17 per cent  year-on-year. The 
hotel trades in the uppermost position of the city’s 5-Star 
hotel market. Marketing is now being expanded to target 
the high-end suite business from the United States and 
also aiming to becoming a Virtuoso Hotel. A three-year 
upgrading and refurbishment plan of the rooms and 
corridors is ongoing together with a new lounge for MICE 
meetings to upgrade conference and events facilities. Works 
on the latter is to be concluded in 2015. 

Il-profitti mill-operat telgħu bi 17 fil-mija minn sena għal 
oħra. Il-lukanda topera fil-quċċata tas-suq ta’ ħames stilel 
fil-belt.  Qed nespandu issa l-marketing tagħna  biex nattiraw 
klijenti mill-Istati Uniti li jfittxu l-aqwa fis-suq tas-suites, u fi 
ħsiebna wkoll insiru lukanda inkluża fil-kollezjoni Virtuoso. 
Għaddejjin minn proċess ta’ upgrading u refurbishment  tal-
kmamar u l-kurituri  fuq medda  ta’ tlitt snin, u ser tiżdied 
sala ġdida  għall laqgħat tal-MICE biex jitjiebu l-faċilitajiet 
għal konferenzi u events. Din tal-ahhar ser titlesta fl-2015.

CORINTHIA HOTEL BUDAPEST

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited
 € 000 € 000

GOP 5,572 6,498
EBITDA 4,502 5,591
EBITDA margin 24% 26%
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DEDICATED TO DELIVERING OUTSTANDING SERVICE

Operating profits are up 31 per cent year-on-year. The hotel 
has shifted its marketing strategy to target an ever-growing 
leisure segment booked online, besides its traditional 
longstanding conference market. 2014 marked two very 
important events at the Corinthia Hotel in Lisbon – the 
inauguration of the newly renovated lobby and lounge bar 
and the hotel’s tenth anniversary.

Il-profitt mill-operat żdied b’31 fil-mija fuq is-sena ta’ qabel. 
Il-lukanda marret għal strateġija ta’ marketing li jiġbed 
aktar klijenti mis-settur dejjem jikber tal-leisure bbukkjat 
bl-internet, mingħajr ma ttraskurat is-suq stabbilit tagħha 
tal-konferenzi. L-2014 rat żewġ affarijiet importanti jseħħu 
fil-Corinthia Hotel ta’ Lisbona – il-ftuħ ta’ lobby u lounge 
bar rinovati, u l-għaxar anniversarju tal-lukanda.

CORINTHIA HOTEL LISBON

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited

 € 000 € 000
GOP 4,322 5,674
EBITDA 3,601 4,673
EBITDA margin 20% 24%

Corinthia Hotel Lisbon
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Operating profits are up 43 per cent year-on-year. This 
is the result of a major cost efficiency drive, coupled with 
a marketing strategy online. 2015 budget increased to  
€4,280,000 following this success. A refurbishment plan 
is scheduled to start for the lobby area together with minor 
room upgrades.  

Operating profits are up 90 per cent year-on-year, a 
remarkable achievement under any circumstances. This is 
the result of a two-pronged strategy to drive efficiencies in 
operating costs and payroll, coupled with a yield strategy 
aimed to maximize room rates. A new, leased restaurant is 
proving to be a success story with higher returns. 

Profits are up 36 per cent year-on-year. The hotel trades 
at close to full occupancy for more than half the year and 
the strategy for 2014 has been to yield room rates to levels 
nudging the 5-Star market in Malta. A new meeting room 
enhanced the MICE performance during the low season 
in 2014 and the same is expected for 2015.  

Il-qligħ mill-operat żdied bi 43 fil-mija fuq is-sena ta’ qabel. 
Dan kien frott tal-isforzi kbar li saru biex jitrażżnu l-ispejjeż, 
u tal-istrateġija ta’ marketing online. Wara dan is-suċċess, 
il-budget għall-2015 żdied għal €4,280,000.  Dalwaqt  ser 
jibda refurbishment tal-lobby u l-ispazju ta’ madwaru, u ser 
jitranġaw xi ftit il-kmamar.

Il-qligħ mill-operat kiber b’90 fil-mija fi spazju ta’ sena, 
suċċess enormi taħt kwalunkwe ċirkustanzi. Dan seħħ wara 
li attwajna strateġija b’żewg għanijiet: aktar effiċjenza 
fejn jidħlu spejjeż u pagi, u pjan biex inġibu l-ogħla rati 
possibbli. Ir-ristorant ġdid mikri sejjer tajjeb ħafna u qed 
jirrendi aktar.

Il-profitti kibru b’36 fil-mija fuq is-sena ta’ qabel. Il-lukanda 
qed tkun kważi mimlija għal aktar minn nofs is-sena, u 
l-istrateġija fl-2014 kienet li r-rati jiżdiedu biex joqorbu lejn 
dawk tas-suq f’Malta ta’ ħames stilel. Sala ġdida għall-
laqgħat għenet biex is-suq tal-MICE imur ahjar fl-2014 
fix-xhur l-aktar dgħajfa, u l-istess hu mistenni għall-2015.

CORINTHIA HOTEL PRAGUE

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited

 € 000 € 000
GOP 2,846 4,064
EBITDA 2,397 3,278
EBITDA margin 17% 21%

CORINTHIA HOTEL ST GEORGE'S BAY

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited

 € 000 € 000
GOP 1,501 3,049
EBITDA 1,098 2,485
EBITDA margin 9% 17%

MARINA HOTEL

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited
 € 000 € 000

GOP 1,343 1,822
EBITDA 1,105 1,566
EBITDA margin 20% 23%
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The political conditions in Libya have deeply affected the 
performance of the Tripoli Hotel. Operational costs have been 
kept to a minimum and in line with the income generated. 
Management downsized payroll costs to the bare minimum 
by granting unpaid vacation leave where possible. Our strategy 
remains focused at operating the hotel to a break-even target 
thereby allowing rental income from the Commercial Centre 
to contribute towards overall profitability.  

The downturn in profits in St Petersburg is driven partly 
by sanctions on Russia but mostly by the devaluation of 
the local currency. The Rouble to Euro rate has devalued 
from a rate in the 40’s at the start of 2014, to one in the 
70’s by the year-end. The foremost market for St Petersburg 
has always been Russian and with overseas trips now 
prohibitively expensive, the Russian market is increasing 
in importance up to almost half of the guests. In building 
on this business, the hotel has established an online presence 
in Russian, focused sales in Moscow and consolidated its 
senior management team. 

Is-sitwazzjoni politika fi Tripli kellha effett qawwi fuq 
l-andament tal-lukanda ta’ Tripli. Żammejna l-ispejjeż 
tal-operat baxxi kemm jista’ jkun u proporzjonati mad-
dħul. Il-management naqqas kemm felaħ l-ispejjeż tal-pagi 
billi ħalla l-impjegati jieħdu btajjel bla ħlas, fejn dan kien 
possibbli. Il-mira ewlenija tagħna hi li noperaw il-lukanda 
mingħajr telf, biex b’hekk id-dħul mill-kiri taċ-Ċentru 
Kummerċjali imur kollu profitt. 

It-tnaqqis fil-qligħ f’San Petruburgu hu dovut xi ftit mis-
sanzjonijiet fuq ir-Russja, iżda l-aktar mill-iżvalutar tal-
munita lokali. Ir-rata tal-kambju tar-Rublu mal-ewro niżlet 
minn madwar 40 fil-bidu tal-2014 għal dik ta’ madwar 70 
sal-aħħar tas-sena. L-akbar suq f’San Petruburgu dejjem 
kien dak Russu, u billi issa s-safar sar wisq għali, is-suq 
Russu qed isir aktar importanti, u kważi nofs il-klijenti 
tagħna huma Russi. Sabiex inżidu dan is-suq, il-lukanda 
waqqfet site bir-Russu fuq l-internet, għafset fuq il-bejgħ 
f’Moska u saħħet it-tim maniġerjali għoli tagħha.

CORINTHIA HOTEL TRIPOLI

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited
 € 000 € 000

GOP 6,568 (1,211)
Net rental income 5,868 5,863
EBITDA 11,551 4,227
EBITDA margin 45% 29%

CORINTHIA HOTEL ST PETERSBURG

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited
 € 000 € 000

GOP 7,619 3,007
Net rental income 3,940 3,496
EBITDA 7,598 4,096
EBITDA margin 33% 22%
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We are presenting the consolidated numbers for the London 
hotel given that we have allocated over 15 per cent of 
our capital to this investment. IHI owns 50 per cent of 
this hotel and adjoining residential development. In the 
financial statements, the London Hotel’s EBITDA is not 
consolidated into IHI’s own EBITDA number since the 
shareholding does not exceed the 50 per cent mark. On 
the other hand, for the purposes of reviewing the financial 
position of the Company, it is only appropriate to include 
our 50 per cent share when reviewing overall metrics. In 
this regard, the operation in London is improving and the 
hotel continues to establish itself at the forefront of London’s 
luxury hotel market. The hotel has been accepted into the 
American Express Fine Hotels & Resorts program and 
also as a Virtuoso supplier. The new Garden Lounge has 
been inaugurated at the beginning of the year. 

Qed nagħtukom il-figuri konsolidati għall-lukanda 
ta’Londra peress li aħna investejna aktar minn 15-il mija 
tal-kapital tagħna f’dan l-investiment. IHI għandha sehem 
ta’ 50 fil-mija f’din il-lukanda u l-iżvilupp residenzjali ta’ 
biswitha. l-EBITDA tal-lukanda f’Londra mhux inkluż 
fir-rapporti finanzjarji tal-IHI, peress li dan is-sehem 
ma jaqbiżx il 50 fil-mija. Madankollu, meta niġu biex 
neżaminaw il-pożizzjoni finanzjarja tal-Kumpanija, huwa 
ovvjament xieraq li ninkludu s-sehem ta’ 50 fil-mija fil-
figuri totali. F’dan ir-rigward, l-operazzjoni ġewwa 
Londra qed timxi ‘l quddiem u l-lukanda qed tkompli 
tistabbilixxi ruħha fuq quddiem nett fis-suq ta’ lukandi 
ta' lussu f’Londra.Il-lukanda daħlet tagħmel parti mill-
programm tal-American Express Fine Hotels & Resorts, 
kif ukoll fil-kollezjoni Virtuoso. Il-Garden Lounge l-ġdid 
infetaħ fil-bidu tas-sena. 

CORINTHIA HOTEL LONDON

 2013 2014
 Audited Audited
 € 000 € 000

GOP(100%) 16,820  18,458
GOP(50%) 8,410  9,229

Dear Shareholders, the year ahead, promises to be a 
good year. Our budget for 2015 for each of our hotels has 
been set higher than actual performance in 2014 and the 
results achieved in the first quarter this year confirm this 
expectation. These improved performances are the result of 
actions taken over the years in our management company, 
CHI, which operates our hotels under the Corinthia Brand, 
as well as hotels owned by third parties.

Principally, CHI is organized as a marketing and HR 
organization, focused on driving revenue into the hotels 
we operate, as also fostering a culture across these hotels 
that is reflective of the dynamic, hard-working and creative 
spirit of Corinthia. CHI earns its income through fees paid 
for by the hotels it manages, with fees being directly tied to 
revenues and GOP. Therefore, the more revenue and GOP 
we drive into our hotels, the more fees are earned by CHI. 
A third of these fees are retained as operating profit in CHI 
and consolidated into the overall IHI EBITDA. Out of the 
rest, two-thirds are expended on marketing and a third on 
HR, training and quality. CHI has a workforce of some 50 
persons occupied in the fields of marketing, sales, revenue 
management, social media, PR, distribution, online activity, 
HR, training, quality control and operations.

Għeziez Azzjonisti, is-sena li ġejja tidher li ser tkun 
waħda tajba. Il-budget għall-2015 għal kull lukanda 
tagħna huwa ogħla minn dak li rnexxielna niksbu fl-
2014, u r-riżultati miksuba fl-ewwel kwart ta’ din is-sena 
jikkonfermaw din l-aspettativa. Morna aħjar għaliex 
tul is-snin għamilna ħafna xogħol fil-kumpanija tal-
immaniġjar tagħna, CHI, li tmexxi l-lukandi taħt il-brand 
Corinthia, kif ukoll lukandi ta’ terzi.

Prinċipalment, CHI hi mitfugħa fuq il-marketing u l-HR, 
iffukata fuq iż-żieda tad-dħul tal-lukandi li mmexxu, fil-
waqt li trawwem kultura f’dawn il-lukandi li tirrifletti 
l-ispirtu dinamiku, bieżel u kreattiv tal-Corinthia. Id-
dħul ta’ CHI jiġi mill-fees imħallsa lilha mill-lukandi 
li tmexxi, u li huma marbuta direttament mad-dħul u 
l-GOP. Għalhekk, aktar ma’ jirnexxielna nkabbru d-dħul 
u l-GOP fil-lukandi tagħna, akbar ikunu l-fees ta’ CHI. 
Terz ta’ dawn il-fees jinżammu bħala operating profits 
minn CHI, u jagħmlu parti mill-EBITDA kollha ta’IHI. 
Minn dak li jifdal, żewg terzi jintefqu fuq marketing u 
terz fuq HR, training u kwalità. CHI għandha madwar 50 
persuna jaħdmu fl-oqsma tal-marketing, bejgħ, revenue 
management, social media, PR, distribuzzjoni attività 
fuq l-internet, HR, training, quality control u l-operat.
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Fejn jidħlu l-efficenzja u l-effettività, din l-organiżżazzjoni 
tħabbatha ma’ kwalunkwe oħra fil-qasam tal-immaniġjar tal-
lukandi, u llum aħna lesti sew biex inkomplu nżidu n-numru 
ta’ lukandi li noperaw, li mhux bilfors ikunu  ta’ IHI jew 
l-azzjonisti tagħha.

Servizz ġdid li ser jibda jiġi offrut lil terzi – servizz li 
s’issa kien offrut biss lill-proprjetajiet tagħna – hu dak 
ta’ żviluppar ta’ lukandi u proprjetà ohra. Dan ser isir 
b’mod li jiġġenera aktar management agreements għal 
CHI. Qed tiġi mwaqqfa kumpanija ġdida, Corinthia 
Developments International (CDI), biex tiffoka fuq 
dan il-qasam, bil-ħsieb li niġġeneraw transazzjonijiet 
immobiljarji, nidentifikaw investituri u oħrajn li lesti 
jikkontribwixxu fondi għal dan il-business, u b'hekk 
nieħdu f’idejna l-iżvilupp tal-immobbli f’proprjetajiet 
lussużi li jinkludu lukanda Corinthia. Diġa' qed noqorbu  
biex niffinaliżżaw l-ewwel waħda minn dawn it-
transazzjonijiet f’ waħda mill-bliet kapitali ewropej. 
Għamilna progress sew fid-diskussjonijiet biex CHI 
tinħatar bħala l-iżviluppatur u l-operatur ta’ lukanda 
ġdida u prestiġjuża taħt l-isem Corinthia, iżda li 
s-sidien u l-kapital tagħha jkunu ta’ terzi. Aktar dettalji 
jingħataw meta l-kuntratti jkunu firmati. Sadanittant, 
qed naħdmu fuq proġetti oħra simili fi bliet kapitali 
oħra ewlenin, sew fl-Ewropa kif ukoll barra, bl-istess 
għanijiet.

Iċ-Chairman tagħna diġa' spjega l-istrateġija tagħna għal 
quddiem fejn jidħol finanzjament. Fil-fatt ilna naħdmu bis-
sħiħ fuq dan, sew lokalment kif ukoll internazzjonalment. 
Għadna kif finaliżżajna l-ħruġ lokalment ta’ bond ta’ €45 
miljun, li għaliha kellna applikazzjonijiet ta’ aktar minn 
erba’ darbiet il-valur tagħha. Dan hu sinjal ċar tal-istima 
li IHI tgawdi fis-suq domestiku.

Li jmiss issa hu li noħorġu bond internazzjonali ta’ 
€170 miljun, l-aktar biex inroddu lura s-self bankarju li 
għandhom l-erba’ lukandi tagħna f’Budapest, Lisbona, 
Praga u San Petruburgu. Din hi l-ewwel darba li ser induru 
għas-suq internazzjonali tal-bonds għal fondi meħtieġa, 
u l-ewwel darba li kumpanija Maltija irnexxielha ġġib 
listing internazzjonali għal strumenti finanzjarji tagħha. 

This organization is as efficient and effective as any other 
in the field of hotel management, and, today, we are well 
poised to take on the management of yet more hotels not 
necessarily owned by IHI or its shareholders. 

A new activity which is now to be offered to third party 
clients – a function which up to now we have provided 
for the development of our own properties – is the service 
of developing hotels and other real estate. In this regard, 
our development activity is being organized to originate 
new management agreements for CHI. A new company, 
Corinthia Developments International (CDI), is under 
formation to put a focus on this very activity, where we 
will originate real estate transactions, identify investors 
and funders for such deals and subsequently carry forward 
the development of such real estate into luxury properties 
featuring a Corinthia Hotel at their core. Already, we 
are well on the way towards completing our first such 
transaction in a mainland major European capital where 
discussions are at an advanced stage in the appointment 
of CDI as developer and CHI as operator for the creation 
of a new, landmark Corinthia Hotel which will be fully 
owned and funded by a third party investor. Details will 
be announced as and when agreements are formally signed. 
Meanwhile, other similar transactions, in other major 
capitals in Europe and beyond, are being pursued with 
the same objectives.

Our Chairman has elaborated on our funding strategies 
going forward. In fact, we have been hard at work on both 
the local and international front. We have just concluded 
a €45 million bond issue locally which has been heavily 
oversubscribed to more than four times the value of the 
bond offering. This is indeed a huge manifestation of the 
high regard that IHI is held in the domestic market. 

Our next objective is to issue an international bond for €170 
million to principally replace the underlying bank debt on 
four of our hotel properties in Budapest, Lisbon, Prague 
and St Petersburg. This will be a first for our Company 
in tapping the international bond market for its funding 
requirement as well as a first for a Maltese company to 
obtain an international listing for its financial instruments.
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Diġa' spjegajna fit-tul aktar il-fuq kif marru fl-operat  
il-lukandi li qed nitkellmu fuqhom. Peress li l-Kumpanija  
għandha investimenti sostanzjali f’lukandi u proprjetà oħra, 
l-income statement tagħna mhux affettwat biss mill-EBITDA 
li niġġenraw, iżda ukoll u b’mod qawwi miċ-ċaqliq fil-valur 
tal-assi tagħna. Din is-sena, minħabba sitwazzjonijiet ta’ 
force majeure li kellna niffaċċaw fil-Libja u l-Federazzjoni 
Russa, irrappurtajna nuqqas fil-valur ta’ ftit anqas minn 
€75 miljun fl-assi li għandna f’dawn iż-żewġ pajjiżi. Bil-
maqlub, imbagħad, minħabba l-andament tajjeb li kellna fil-
lukandi tagħna fl-Unjoni Ewropeja, żidna l-valur tagħhom 
bi €45 miljun. Fuq bażi netta, allura, il-valur totali ta’ 
l-assi tagħna naqas bi €30 miljun.

Kien hemm ukoll tnaqqis ta’ €5.4 miljun fid-deprezzament 
u l-ammortiżazzjoni tal-assi, għaliex hemm għadd ta’ 
assi li għadhom jintużaw imma li qegħdin jidhru fil-kotba 
mingħajr ebda valur. Terġa, minħabba t-tnaqqis  fis-self 
bankarju minħabba pagamenti li jsiru regolari u rati aktar 
baxxi tal-EURIBOR, l-ispejjeż finanzjarji din is-sena niżlu 
bi €2.2 miljun fuq is-sena ta’ qabel.

Ħarsa lejn il-balance sheet tagħna turi li l-assi għadhom 
jaqbżu il-biljun ewro. Irnexxielna nnaqqsu wkoll dak li 
għandna ngħatu, li komplessivament issa jlaħħaq €417 
miljun. Dan hu persentaġġ pjuttost prudenti ta’ 41.22 
fil-mija tal-assi tagħna, u jfisser tnaqqis ta’ 1,44 punti 
perċentwali fuq is-sena l-oħra.

Għeziez Azzjonisti, nixtiequ ntemmu billi nirringrazzjaw 
lilkom u lil Bord tad-Diretturi tal-fiduċja li urejtu fina, u 
nixtiequ nirringrazzjaw ukoll lill-kollegi tagħna kollha 
tal-kontribuzzjoni siewja tagħhom. Inħarsu ‘l quddiem 
b’fiduċja ghas-sena li ġejja. 

We have already dwelt extensively on the operating 
performance of our hotel properties in this review.  However 
other than the EBITDA returns, being a company with 
substantial investments in hotels and real estate, our income 
statement is heavily impacted by movements in the fair 
value of our assets.  This year, in view of the force majeure 
situations prevailing in Libya and the Russian Federation, 
we reported a diminution in value of our assets in these two 
countries of just under €75 million. Conversely, on account 
of the robust performance achieved in our European Union 
based hotels we had an uplift in value of €45 million. The 
net impact of these fair value movements was an impairment 
of €30 million.

There has also been a reduction of €5.4 million in our 
annual charge for depreciation and amortisation of assets as 
a number of assets which are still in use are fully written-
off.  Furthermore, in view of the continued reduction in the 
repayment of our bank debt coupled by lower EURIBOR 
rates, this year’s finance costs are €2.4 million below the 
corresponding charge the year before.

In reviewing our balance sheet, one notes that our asset 
base is still above the one billion Euro mark. We have 
also managed to reduce our liabilities, which in total now 
stand at €417 million. Read against our asset base, our 
indebtedness level is at a very prudent 41.22 per cent which 
is 1.44 percentage points better than the corresponding 
level the year before

Dear Shareholders, we wish to conclude by thanking you and 
our Board of Directors for the faith shown in us and likewise, 
we wish to thank all of our colleagues for their important 
contribution. We look forward to another year ahead.

 Joesph Fenech                            Simon Naudi
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Thank you for a successful journey at the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon.
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The directors present their report on International Hotel Investments p.l.c. (the “Company”) and the Group of which it is the parent for the year 
ended 31 December 2014.

Principal activities

International Hotel Investments p.l.c. carries on the business of an investment company in connection with the ownership, development and 
operation of hotels, leisure facilities and other activities related to the tourism industry and commercial centres. The Company owns a number 
of investments in subsidiary and associate companies (as detailed in the notes to the financial statements), through which it furthers the 
business of the Group.

Review of business development and financial position

The results of the operations for the year are as set out in the income statements. In view of the prolonged instability in Libya and economic 
conditions in the Russian Federation, revenue generated by Corinthia Hotel Tripoli and Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg for the year ended 31 
December 2014 was lower than the prior year by circa €16.1 million. However, such a reduction was principally compensated by increased 
revenues from the Group’s other properties in Europe and therefore the overall decrease in income for the financial year amounted to €7.4 
million (a reduction of 6%). This reduction in income inevitably impacted the Group’s EBITDA, which decreased by 18%, from €35.0 million in 
2013 to €28.9 million in 2014. It must be pointed out, however, that the above revenue and EBITDA figures do not include the Group’s 50% share 
in the London hotel which is not consolidated in the Group’s results.

The depreciation charge for 2014 went down by €5.4 million (from €23.8 million in 2013 to €18.4 million in 2014) as no provision was required on 
assets that were already fully depreciated.

In 2014 there was also a reduction of approximately €2.9 million in finance costs (from €15.9 million in 2013 to €13.0 million in 2014) in consequence 
of reduced EURIBOR rates coupled with the further reduction of the Group’s debt due to scheduled repayments of bank loans.

The earnings on ordinary activities after depreciation and net finance costs during the year under review were a loss of €2.6 million compared 
to a corresponding loss of €4.7 million in 2013, representing a year-on-year improvement of nearly 100%.

In April 2014, 11 apartments in Whitehall Place, adjacent to the Corinthia Hotel London, in which IHI holds a 50% stake, were sold to third parties. 
The penthouse apartment was retained and will be sold when the right opportunity arises. Except for one-off property costs resulting from 
this sale of the apartments, the disposal had no effect on the Group financial statements since in 2013 the apartments had already been valued 
at their market price. In 2014 a loss of €14.6 million was registered from equity accounted investments (mainly London Hotel and Residences), 
in consequence of building taxes, depreciation, interest and the one-time selling costs of the 11 apartments as the hotel performance registered 
a marginal improvement in performance in 2014 over 2013. 

After accounting for movements in fair value of properties, the Group recorded a loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2014 of €16.3 
million (2013: Profit of €0.3 million). 

In 2014 the Group was negatively impacted by a reduction of €69.2 million in the value of its hotels and commercial centres in Tripoli and St 
Petersburg due to the force majeure situation in these two jurisdictions and the devaluation of the Russian rouble. On the other hand, through the 
robust performance achieved by a number of the Group’s European hotels, IHI registered an improvement of €44.9 million in the fair values of such 
properties, most notably of which were the uplifts in the hotel properties located in London (limited to its 50% share), in Lisbon and in Budapest. 

Overall, the Group reported a net impairment (before tax) in the fair value of its properties of €24.3 million (2013: uplift of €36.8 million) which 
is reported as to €13.3 million in the Income Statement and €11.0 million in the Comprehensive Income Statement.

In 2014, despite the force majeure situation prevailing in Libya and the Russian Federation the Group achieved an interest cover ratio of 2.21  
(2013: 2.19), which is marginally better than that registered the year before. 

On 27 January 2015, the Corinthia Hotel Tripoli was the scene of an armed attack. The hotel’s management has carried out an assessment of the 
affected parts of the hotel and this has revealed that damages were contained. The estimated cost of repairs, which are currently underway, is 
in the region of €1 million. 

Whilst management is committed to resume the operation of this hotel within the shortest time possible, it is likely that the situation of low 
occupancy at the Corinthia Hotel Tripoli will persist in 2015. It is the hotel management’s objective to minimise losses on the operation of the 
hotel, and to ensure that payroll and other operating costs are matched to operating income and contribute in some manner towards general 
overheads such as utilities, security and maintenance. In the meantime, the commercial centre adjoining the hotel remains in operation and 
generating around €6 million in rental income.

IHI has already announced that it has executed a preliminary conditional agreement with the majority shareholders in the Island Hotels Group 
Holdings p.l.c. with a view to consider making a voluntary offer for the purchase of 100% of the issued share capital of this Group. Such an 
eventual acquisition would be financed through additional funding.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Year ended 31 December 2014
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Year ended 31 December 2014

Future developments

IHI’s business as a developer and operator of hotels and real estate has evolved and its dependence on any single hotel is now marginal. The 
outlook for 2015 in all the Company’s hotels, excluding Libya, remains better than that for 2014. 

Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and the Group’s operational and cash flow forecasts. On the basis of this review, after making 
enquiries, and in the light of the current financial position, the existing banking facilities and other funding arrangements, the directors 
confirm, in accordance with Listing Rule 5.62, that they have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Board of directors

Mr Alfred Pisani  (Chairman)
Mr Frank Xerri de Caro  (Senior independent director)
Mr Khaled Algonsel  appointed 22 December 2014
Mr Abdulnaser Ahmida
Mr Hamad Buamim
Mr Abuagila Almahdi  appointed 16 October 2014
Mr Douraid Zaghouani  appointed 3 November 2014
Mr Joseph Pisani  appointed 22 December 2014
Dr Joseph J Vella
Mr Michael Beckett
Mr Ziad Makkawi  resigned 3 November 2014
Mr Joseph Fenech   resigned 31 October 2014
Mr Simon Naudi  resigned 31 October 2014

Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group 

The Group started trading in 2000, undertaking a strategy of rapid expansion. The Group’s business is reliant on hotel properties and operations 
which are seasonal in nature. The hotel industry globally is marked by strong and increasing competition. Many of the Group’s current and 
potential competitors may have longer operating histories, bigger name recognition, larger customer bases and greater financial and other 
resources than the companies within the Group.

The Group’s operations are mainly located in stable economies. The Group also owns certain subsidiaries that have operations situated in 
emerging markets. Emerging markets present different economic and political conditions from those of the more developed markets and 
present less social, political and economic stability. Businesses in emerging markets may not be operating in a market-oriented economy as 
known in other developed markets. 

Reserves

The movements on reserves are as set out in the statements of changes in equity.

Auditor

A resolution proposing the appointment of the auditor of the Company will be submitted at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the board of directors on 29 March 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

                              

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director

Registered Office:
22 Europa Centre,
Floriana FRN 1400,
Malta
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Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.68, we, the undersigned, declare that to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements included in the annual 
report and prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the Company and its undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole and that this report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and position of the Company and its 
undertakings together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors on 29 March 2015 by:

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director

STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTORS

on the Financial Statements and Other Information included in the Annual Report
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Listed companies are subject to The Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the “Code”). The adoption of the Code is not 
mandatory, but listed companies are required under the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority to include a Statement of Compliance 
with the Code in their Annual Report, accompanied by a report of the independent auditor.

The board of directors (the “directors” or the “board”) of International Hotel Investments p.l.c. (“IHI” or the “Company”) restate their support for 
the Code and note that the adoption of the Code has resulted in positive effects to the Company.

The board considers that during the reporting period, the Company has been in compliance with the Code to the extent that was considered 
adequate with the size and operations of the Company. Instances of divergence from the Code are disclosed and explained below.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

Principles 1 and 4: The board

The board of directors is entrusted with the overall direction and management of the Company, including the establishment of strategies for future 
development, and the approval of any proposed acquisitions by the Company in pursuing its investment strategies. 

Its responsibilities also involve the oversight of the Company’s internal control procedures and financial performance, and the review of business 
risks facing the Company, ensuring that these are adequately identified, evaluated, managed and minimised. All the directors have access to 
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company, should they so require. 

Principle 2: Chairman and chief executive officer (CEO)

Mr Alfred Pisani occupies the position of Chairman. As from 31 October 2014 the role of CEO has been jointly held by Mr Joseph Fenech in charge 
of corporate affairs and Mr Simon Naudi in charge of development.

Principle 3: Composition of the board

The board of directors consists of one executive director and nine non-executive directors. The present mix of executive and non-executive 
directors is considered to create a healthy balance and serves to unite all shareholders’ interests, whilst providing direction to the Company’s 
management to help maintain a sustainable organisation. 

The non-executive directors constitute a majority on the board and their main functions are to monitor the operations of the executive director and 
the CEOs and their performance as well as to analyse any investment opportunities that are proposed by the executive director. In addition, the 
non-executive directors have the role of acting as an important check on the possible conflicts of interest of the executive director, which may exist 
as a result of his dual role as executive director of the Company and his role as officer of IHI’s parent company, Corinthia Palace Hotel Company 
Limited (“CPHCL”) and its other subsidiaries.

The board believes that the independence of its directors is not compromised because of long service or the provision of any other service to the 
Corinthia Group. Each director is mindful of maintaining independence, professionalism and integrity in carrying out his duties, responsibilities 
and providing judgement as a director of the Company.

The board is made up as follows:

Executive director  Date of first appointment 

Mr Alfred Pisani, Chairman  29 March 2000
 
Non-executive directors  Date of first appointment

Mr Khaled Algonsel  22 December 2014
Mr Hamad Buamim  31 December 2013
Mr Abdulnaser Ahmida  21 January 2014
Mr Abuagila Almahdi  16 October 2014
Mr Douraid Zaghouani  3 November 2014
Mr Joseph Pisani  22 December 2014
Dr Joseph J. Vella  29 March 2000
Mr Frank Xerri de Caro  2 July 2004
Mr Michael Beckett  23 July 2010

Mr Alfred Fabri acts as secretary to the board of directors.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance

Principle 5: Board meetings

The board met four times during the period under review. The number of board meetings attended by directors for the year under review is as follows

Mr Alfred Pisani 4
Mr Abdulnaser Ahmida 4
Mr Abuagila Almahdi 1
Mr Hamad Buamim 4
Mr Ziad Makkawi 1
Mr Douraid Zaghouani 1
Mr Joseph Fenech 2
Mr Simon Naudi 2
Mr Joseph J Vella 4
Mr Frank Xerri de Caro 4
Mr Michael Beckett 4

Principle 6: Information and professional development

The Company ensures that it provides directors with relevant information to enable them to effectively contribute to board decisions.

Principle 8: Committees

• Audit committee 

 The audit committee’s primary objective is to assist the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities over the financial reporting processes, 
financial policies and internal control structure. The committee, set up in 2002, is made up of non-executive directors and reports directly to 
the board of directors. The committee oversees the conduct of the internal and external audit and acts to facilitate communication between 
the board, management and, upon the direct request of the audit committee, the internal audit team and the external auditors.

 During the year under review, the committee met six times 

 Mr Frank Xerri de Caro, the senior independent director, acts as Chairman, Dr Joseph J. Vella and Mr Michael Beckett act as members. The 
company secretary, Mr Alfred Fabri acts as secretary to the committee.

 The board of directors, in terms of Listing Rule 5.118, has indicated Mr Frank Xerri de Caro as the independent non-executive member of the 
audit committee who is considered to be competent in accounting and/or auditing in view of his considerable experience at a senior level 
in the banking field.

 The audit committee is also responsible for the overview of the internal audit function. The role of the internal auditor is to carry out 
systematic risk-based reviews and appraisals of the operations of the Company (as well as of the subsidiaries and associates of the Group) 
for the purpose of advising management and the board, through the audit committee, on the efficiency and effectiveness of management 
policies, practices and internal controls. The function is expected to promote the application of best practices within the organisation. During 
2014, the internal audit function continued to advise the audit committee on aspects of the regulatory framework which affect the day-to-day 
operations of the hotels.

 The directors are fully aware that the close association of the Company with CPHCL and its other subsidiaries is central to the attainment 
by the Company of its investment objectives and implementation of its strategies. The audit committee ensures that transactions entered 
into with related parties are carried out on an arm’s length basis and are for the benefit of the Company, and that the Company and its 
subsidiaries accurately report all related party transactions in the notes to the financial statements.

Principle 9: Relations with shareholders and with the market
 
The Company is highly committed to having an open and communicative relationship with its shareholders and investors.  In this respect, over 
and above the statutory and regulatory requirements relating to the Annual General Meeting, the publication of interim and annual financial 
statements, two interim directors’ statements and Company announcements, the Company seeks to address the diverse information needs of 
its broad spectrum of shareholders in various ways.  It has invested considerable time and effort in setting up and maintaining the Company’s 
website and making it user-friendly, with a section dedicated specifically to investors. 

The Company holds an additional meeting for stockbrokers and institutional investors twice a year to coincide with the publication of its financial 
information. As a result of these initiatives, the investing public is kept abreast of all developments and key events concerning the Company, 
whether these take place in Malta or abroad.

The Company’s commitment to its shareholders is exemplified by the special concessions which it makes available to them. In order to better serve 
the investing public, the board has appointed the company secretary to be responsible for shareholder relations. 
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance

Principle 10: Institutional shareholders

The Company ensures that it is constantly in close touch with its principal institutional shareholders.

Principle 11: Conflicts of interest

The directors are fully aware of their obligations regarding dealings in securities of the Company as required by the Listing Rules in force during 
the year. Moreover they are notified of blackout periods prior to the issue of the Company’s interim and annual financial information during 
which they may not trade in the Company’s shares.

Principle 12: Corporate social responsibility

The Company understands that it has an obligation towards society at large to put into practice sound principles of Corporate Social 
Responsibility ("CSR"). It has embarked on several initiatives which support the community, its culture, as well as sports and the arts in the 
various locations where it operates. 

The Company recognises the importance of good CSR principles within the structure of its dealings with its employees. In this regard, 
the Company actively encourages initiative and personal development, and consistently creates opportunities based on performance. The 
Company is committed towards a proper work-life balance and the quality of life of its work force and their families, and of the environment 
in which it operates.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

Principle 7: Evaluation of the board’s performance

Under the present circumstances, the board does not consider it necessary to appoint a committee to carry out a performance evaluation of its role, 
as the board’s performance is always under the scrutiny of the shareholders.

Approved by the board of directors on 29 March 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Frank Xerri de Caro  Joseph J Vella
Senior independent director  Director
Director and chairman of audit committee
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OTHER DISCLOSURES IN TERMS OF LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64.1
Share capital structure

The Company’s issued share capital is five hundred and fifty four million and two hundred and thirty eight thousand five hundred and seventy 
three (554,238,573) ordinary shares of €1 each. All of the issued shares of the Company form part of one class of ordinary shares in the Company, 
which shares are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. All shares in the Company have the same rights and entitlements and rank pari passu 
between themselves. 

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64.3
Shareholders holding 5% or more of the equity share capital as at 31 December 2014:

  Number of  Percentage
 shares  holding (%)
 
Corinthia Palace Hotel Company Limited  325,777,026 58.78
Istithmar Hotels FZE 122,226,668 22.05
Libyan Foreign Investment Company 61,113,332 11.03
 
There were no changes in shareholders holding 5% or more of the equity share capital as at 29 March 2015.. 

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64.8
Appointment and replacement of directors 

In terms of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company, the directors of the Company shall be appointed through an election. 
All shareholders are entitled to vote for the nominations in the list provided by the nominations committee. The rules governing the nomination, 
appointment and removal of directors are contained in Article 19 of the Articles of Association.  

Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association

In terms of the Companies Act the Company may by extraordinary resolution at a general meeting alter or add to its Memorandum or Articles 
of Association.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64.9
Powers of board members

The powers of directors are outlined in Article 21 of the Articles of Association. 

Statement by the directors pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.1

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.1 there are no material contracts to which the Company, or any one of its subsidiaries, was party to and in which 
any one of the directors had a direct or indirect interest therein.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.2
Company secretary and registered office

Alfred Fabri
22 Europa Centre, Floriana FRN 1400, Malta
Telephone (+356) 2123 3141

Signed on behalf of the board of directors on 29 March 2015 by:

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director
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REMUNERATION STATEMENT

Nominations and remuneration committee

The function of this committee is to propose the appointment and the remuneration package of directors and senior executives of IHI and  
its subsidiaries. The members of the committee are Mr Michael Beckett acting as Chairman and non-executive directors, Dr Joseph J. Vella and  
Mr Frank Xerri de Caro as members. Mr Alfred Fabri acts as secretary to the committee.

The board of directors approved the new terms of reference of the nominations and remuneration committee, bringing them in line with both the 
changes in the Listing Rules, as well as best international practice.

Directors’ fees

The directors’ fees for 2014 including those for membership of board committees and other subsidiary boards are:

 €
Mr Alfred Pisani 41,929
Mr Khaled Algonsel -
Mr Hamad Buamim 12,000
Mr Abdulnaser Ahmida 12,000
Mr Abuagila Almahdi  2,500
Mr Douraid Zaghouani 2,000
Dr Joseph J Vella 52,000
Mr Frank Xerri de Caro 77,000
Mr Michael Beckett 72,466
Mr Ziad Makkawi 10,000
Mr Joseph Fenech 26,970
Mr Simon Naudi 9,500

The foregoing amounts are all fixed remuneration. There are no variable remuneration considerations nor share options.
         
Remuneration of executive directors and senior executives

In 2014 the remuneration of executive directors and senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to €3.5 million.

The foregoing amount is all fixed remuneration. There are no variable remunerations nor share options.
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Grant Thornton
Tower Business Centre, Suite 3
Tower Street
Swatar BKR 4013
Malta

Level 2
Regional Business Centre
University Heights
Msida MSD1751
Msida
T +356 21320134
F +356 21331161
www.grantthornton.com.mt

Certified Public Accountants
Member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd
A list of partners and directors of the firm is available at Tower Business Centre, Suite 3, Tower Street, Swatar BKR 4013, Malta
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

to the shareholders of International Hotel Investments p.l.c.

Report on the directors’ statement of compliance with
the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance

Listing Rules 5.94 and 5.97 issued by the Listing Authority, require the directors of 
International Hotel Investments p.l.c. (the “company”) to include in their annual report a 
statement of compliance to the extent to which they have adopted the Code of Principles 
of Good Corporate Governance (the “statement of compliance”), and the effective measures 
they have taken to ensure compliance with these principles.

Our responsibility, as auditor of the company, is laid down by Listing Rule 5.98, which 
requires us to include a report on this statement of compliance.

We read the statement of compliance and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements.  We consider the implications on our report if we become aware of 
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with these financial statements. Our 
responsibilities do not extend to considering whether this statement is consistent with other 
information included in the annual report.

We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the board’s statements on internal 
control included in the statement of compliance covers all risks and controls, or form an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and 
control procedures, nor on the ability of the company to continue in operational existence. 

In our opinion, the accompanying statement of compliance provides the disclosures required 
by Listing Rule 5.97 issued by the Listing Authority.

Mark Bugeja (Partner) for and on behalf of 
GRANT THORNTON
Certified Public Accountants

29 March 2015
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Save as provided by Article 4 of Regulation 1606/2002/EC (the “IAS Regulation”), which applies to companies that at balance sheet date had their 
securities trading on a regulated market of any European Union Member State, the Companies Act, Cap 386 (the “Act”) requires the directors of 
International Hotel Investments p.l.c. (the “Company”) to prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Group 
for that period in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

-  adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and Group will continue in business; 
-  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
-  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
-  account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the accruals basis; 
-  value separately the components of asset and liability items; and 
-  report comparative figures corresponding to those of the preceding accounting period. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act, Cap 386 . 

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors, through oversight of management, are responsible for ensuring that the Group designs, implements and maintains internal 
control systems to provide reasonable assurance with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

Management is responsible, with oversight from the directors, for establishing a control environment and maintaining policies and procedures 
to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and efficient conduct of the Group’s business. This responsibility 
includes maintaining controls pertaining to the Group’s objective of preparing financial statements as required by the Act and managing risks 
that may give rise to material misstatements in those financial statements. In determining which controls to implement to prevent and detect 
fraud, management considers the risks that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

Signed on behalf of the board of directors on 29 March 2015 by:

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director
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INCOME STATEMENT  –  THE GROUP

Year ended 31 December 2014

   2014 2013
  Notes €’000 €’000
   
Revenue 5 116,379 123,734
Direct costs  (61,147) (64,152)

  55,232 59,582

Marketing costs  (5,500) (5,014)
Administrative expenses  (20,202) (19,409)
Other expenses  (680) (178)

  28,850 34,981

Depreciation and amortisation  (18,390) (23,763)
Change in fair value of investment property 13 (15,391) 571
Net impairment reversals on hotel properties 14.1 2,081 5,000

Results from operating activities 6 (2,850) 16,789

Share of loss from equity accounted investments 16 (14,537) (5,788)
Finance income 8 1,789 1,276
Finance costs 8 (14,824) (17,216)
Net fair value gain on interest rate swaps  1,466 1,789
Movement in reimbursement assets 12 (879) (883)

Loss before tax  (29,835) (4,033)

 
Tax income 9 13,549 4,299

(Loss) profit for the year  (16,286) 266
Attributable to:   
  -  Owners of the parent  (16,266) 266
  -  Non-controlling interest  (20) -

  (16,286) 266

Loss per share 10 (0.03) 0.00 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  - THE GROUP

Year ended 31 December 2014

  2014 2013
 Notes €’000 €’000
  
(Loss) profit for the year   (16,286) 266

Other comprehensive income:   
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   
Impairment of hotel properties 14.1 (42,681) (8,200)
Revaluation of hotel properties 22 13,728  -
Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investments   
  - Revaluation of hotel property 22 17,933 39,466
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   
Fair value movements on AFS investments  632 -
Translation difference  6,741 (1,580)
Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investments   
  - Hedging reserve  447 2,150
   
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 9.2 3,797 (5,867)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  597 25,969

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (15,689) 26,235

Attributable to:   
  -  Owners of the parent  (15,669) 26,235
  -  Non-controlling interest  (20) -

  (15,689) 26,235
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BALANCE SHEET  –  THE GROUP

Year ended 31 December 2014

   2014 2013
  Notes €’000 €’000
Assets   
Non-current   
Intangible assets 11 43,556 44,856
Reimbursement assets 12 21,687 22,566
Investment property 13 176,675 191,964
Property, plant and equipment 14 494,971 534,558
Investments accounted for using the equity method 16 213,241 201,689
Loan receivable 17 3,208 44,332
Cash held under trust 29 7,967 2,303

  961,305 1,042,268

Current   
Inventories 18 5,307 5,454
Trade and other receivables 19 23,309 31,819
Current tax assets  2,639 2,883
Cash and cash equivalents 20 19,480 10,248

  50,735 50,404

Total assets  1,012,040 1,092,672

Equity and liabilities   
Equity   
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:   
Share capital 21 554,238 554,238
Revaluation reserve 22 78,565 84,668
Translation reserve 23 5,384 95
Reporting currency conversion difference 25 443 443
Accumulated losses 26 (48,937) (16,448)
Other equity components 27 4,491 3,495

  594,184 626,491
Non-controlling interest 15 630 -

Total equity  594,814 626,491
   
Liabilities   
Non-current   
Bank borrowings  29 182,552 190,600
Bonds  30 88,912 88,893
Other interest bearing borrowings 31 - 13,236
Taxation  - 323
Deferred tax liabilities 32 82,732 96,803
Provision for charges  206 206

  354,402 390,061

Current   
Bank borrowings  29 22,461 24,933
Bonds 30 - 2,500
Other interest bearing borrowings 31 5,326 292
Trade and other payables 33 34,564 42,035
Current tax liabilities  473 4,894
Derivatives 34 - 1,466

  62,824 76,120

Total liabilities  417,226 466,181

Total equity and liabilities  1,012,040 1,092,672

The financial statements on pages FS-15 to FS-66 were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issue on 29 March 2015 and signed on 
its behalf by:

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  - THE GROUP

Year ended 31 December 2014
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  –  THE GROUP

 Year ended 31 December 2014

   2014 2013
  Notes €’000 €’000
   
Loss before tax  (29,835) (4,033)
   
Adjustments 35 60,659 39,830
Working capital changes:   
  Inventories  147 (160)
  Trade and other receivables  7,497 6,713
  Advance payments  (2,900) 3,127
  Trade and other payables  (4,327) (529)

   
Cash from operating activities  31,241 44,948
Tax paid  (1,225) (2,870)

Net cash from operating activities  30,016 42,078

   
Investing activities   
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment  (5,206) (4,288)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  413 213
Payments to acquire intangible asset  (139) (416)
Interest received  742 207

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,190) (4,284)

   
Financing activities   
Share capital contribution by non-controlling interest  650 -
Bank finance advanced  10,000 8,480
Repayment of bank borrowings  (17,392) (24,920)
Loans repaid to parent company and its subsidiary companies  (13,293) (3,954)
Loan repaid by an associate  40,962 -
Proceeds from issue of  bonds  - 5
Bond issue costs  - (139)
Repayment of bonds  (2,500) (5,749)
Acquisition of bonds  (168) -
Interest paid  (15,147) (17,389)
Payment of dividend  (11,547) -
Transfer of cash to trustee  (5,032) -

Net cash used in financing activities  (13,467) (43,666)

   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  12,359 (5,872)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  5,491 11,363

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 20 17,850 5,491
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  - THE COMPANY

Year ended 31 December 2014

  2014 2013
 Notes €’000 €’000
 
Interest receivable and similar income   7,288 60,350
Interest payable and similar charges  (7,609) (9,891)
Administrative expenses  (2,993) (2,666)
Revaluation to fair value of investments in subsidiaries 15.1 (22,061) (34,761)

(Loss) profit before tax 6 (25,375) 13,032
Tax income (expense) 9 8,166 (4,734)

(Loss) profit for the year  (17,209) 8,298

   
Other comprehensive income   
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:   
Movement in fair value of available for sale investments:
  Investment in associates 16.2 17,335 32,527
  Investment in Malta Government Stocks  632 -
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  (3,246) (6,095)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  14,721 26,432

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (2,488) 34,730

   

(Loss) earnings per share  11 (0.004) 0.02

 
 



FS - 21INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVESTMENTS P.L.C. REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014

BALANCE SHEET  –  THE COMPANY

Year ended 31 December 2014

  2014 2013 
 Notes €’000 €’000
Assets   
Non-current   
Intangible assets 11 19,936 19,947
Property, plant and equipment 14 93 118
Investments in subsidiaries 15 414,212 405,637
Investments in associates 16 220,991 203,656
Loans receivable 17 74,867 114,591
Cash held under trust 30 7,967 2,303

  738,066 746,252

Current   
Trade and other receivables 19 25,185 60,483
Tax recoverable  - 2,716
Cash and cash equivalents 20 4,730 1,158

  29,915 64,357

Total assets  767,981 810,609

Equity
Share capital 21 554,238 554,238
Other reserve 24 72,171 71,790
Reporting currency conversion difference 25 443 443
Retained earnings 26 236 19,743

Total equity  627,088 646,214

   
Liabilities   
Non-current   
Bank borrowings  29 5,000 8,600
Bonds  30 88,912 88,893
Other interest bearing borrowings 31 - 13,236
Deferred tax liabilities 32 27,861 32,939

  121,773 143,668

   
Current   
Bank borrowings  29 3,100 2,600
Bonds 30 - 2,500
Other interest bearing borrowings 31 5,091 -
Trade and other payables 33 10,929 15,627

  19,120 20,727

Total liabilities  140,893 164,395

Total equity and liabilities  767,981 810,609

 

The financial statements on pages FS-15 to FS-66 were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issue on 29 March 2015 and signed 
on its behalf by:

Alfred Pisani Frank Xerri de Caro
Chairman Senior independent director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY–  THE COMPANY

Year ended 31 December 2014

   Reporting  
   currency
 Share Other conversion Retained Total  
 capital reserve difference earnings equity
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Balance at 1 January 2013 554,238 67,953 443 (11,150) 611,484
     
Profit for the year - - - 8,298 8,298
Other comprehensive income - 26,432 - - 26,432
Transfer from / to retained earnings - (22,595) - 22,595 -
Balance at 31 December 2013 554,238 71,790 443 19,743 646,214
     

Balance at 1 January 2014 554,238 71,790 443 19,743 646,214

Loss for the year - - - (17,209) (17,209)
Other comprehensive income - 14,721 -  14,721
Transfer from / to retained earnings - (14,340) - 14,340 -
Dividends - - - (16,638) (16,638)
Balance at 31 December 2014 554,238 72,171 443 236 627,088
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  –  THE COMPANY

Year ended 31 December 2014

  2014 2013 
 Notes €’000 €’000
 
(Loss) profit before tax  (25,375) 13,032
   
Working capital changes: 35 22,446 2,991
  Trade and other receivables  7,220 (4,233)
  Trade and other payables  (4,697) (277)

Net cash (used in) from operating activities  (406) 11,513

   
Investing activities   
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment  (37) -
Payments to acquire intangible asset  (126) (302)
Repayment of parent company loan   (13,236) (2,853)
Net loans advanced to subsidiary  and associate companies  39,724 (5,489)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  26,325 (8,644)

   
Financing activities   
Repayment of bank borrowings  (3,100) (2,100)
Proceeds from bond issue  - 5
Bond issue costs  - (139)
Repayment of bonds  (2,500) (5,749)
Acquisition of bonds  (168) -
Payment of dividend  (11,547) -
Transfer of cash to trustee  (5,032) -

Net cash used in financing activities  (22,347) (7,983)

   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
  3,572 (5,114)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,158 6,272

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 20 4,730 1,158
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1 NATURE OF OPERATIONS

 International Hotel Investments p.l.c. and subsidiaries’ (the ‘Group’) principal activities include the ownership, development and operation 
of hotels, leisure facilities and other activities related to the tourism industry. It also owns property held for rental.  

2 GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS 

 International Hotel Investments p.l.c., (the ‘Company’), is a public limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Malta.  The 
address of the Company’s registered office and principal place of business is 22, Europa Centre, Floriana FRN 1400, Malta.  The ultimate 
parent company is Corinthia Palace Hotel Company Limited (CPHCL) of the same address.

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union, and in accordance with the 
Companies Act, 1995.

3 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 New and revised standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

 A number of the new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. Information on the new 
standards relevant to the Group is presented below.

 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)

 These Amendments clarify the application of certain offsetting criteria in IAS 32, including:

• the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’

• that some gross settlement mechanisms may be considered equivalent to net settlement.  

 The Amendments have been applied retrospectively in accordance with their transitional provisions. As the Group does not currently 
present any of its financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis using the provisions of IAS 32, these Amendments had no material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements for any period presented.

 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36)

 These Amendments clarify that an entity is required to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) whenever an 
impairment loss has been recognised or reversed in the period.  In addition, they introduce several new disclosures required to be made 
when the recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal, including:

• additional information about fair value measurements including the applicable level of the fair value hierarchy, and a description of 
any valuation techniques used and key assumptions made.  

• the discount rates used if fair value less costs of disposal is measured using a present value technique.

 The Amendments have been applied retrospectively in accordance with their transitional provisions.

 Annual Improvements to IFRS

 Annual Improvements to IFRS 2011-2013
 The Amendments were considered in the year under review but there has been no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

 Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the first period beginning 
after the effective date of the pronouncement.  Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be 
relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided below.  Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are 
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014)
 The IASB recently released IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.  The new standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39’s guidance on the classification 
and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets.  IFRS 9 also 
provides new guidance on the application of hedge accounting. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 The Group’s management has yet to assess the impact of IFRS 9 on these consolidated financial statements.  The new standard is required 
to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 subject to endorsement by the European Union.

 Annual Improvements to IFRS

 Annual Improvements to IFRS (2010-2012 Cycle)

 IAS 16 (Amendment) ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible Assets’
 The Amendment clarifies that when an item of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets is revalued, the gross carrying 

amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with a revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset.
 
 IAS 24 (Amendment) ‘Related Party Disclosures’ 
 The Amendment clarifies that an entity providing key management services to a reporting entity is deemed to be a related party of the 

latter. It also requires and clarifies that the amounts incurred by the reporting entity for key management personnel services that are 
provided by a separate management entity should be disclosed in the financial statements and not the amounts of compensation paid or 
payable by the key management entity to its employees or directors.

 IFRS 3 (Amendment) ‘Business Combinations’
 The Amendment clarifies that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability shall be measured at fair value at each 

reporting date.

 IFRS 13 (Amendment), ‘Fair Value Measurement’ 
 The Amendment, through a revision only in the basis of conclusion of IFRS 13, clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and amending certain 

provisions of IFRS 9 and IAS 39 related to discounting of financial instruments, did not remove the ability to measure short-term 
receivables and payables with no stated interest rate on an undiscounted basis, when the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

 The Annual Improvements noted above are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.  However, the Improvements 
did not legally come into force until January 2015 as indicated by the European Union.  Management does not anticipate a material impact 
on the Group's consolidated financial statements from these Amendments.

 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

 IFRS 15 presents new requirements for the recognition of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, and several 
revenue-related Interpretations.  The new standard establishes a control-based revenue recognition model and provides additional 
guidance in many areas not covered in detail under existing IFRSs, including how to account for arrangements with multiple performance 
obligations, variable pricing, customer refund rights, supplier repurchase options, and other common complexities.

 IFRS 15 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 subject to endorsement by the European Union.  The 
Group’s management has not yet assessed the impact of IFRS 15 on these consolidated financial statements.

4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Overall considerations

 The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarised below.  

 The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type of asset, liability, income 
and expense.  The measurement bases are more fully described below.

 The accounting policies have been consistently applied by Group entities and are consistent with those used in previous years.

4.2 Presentation of financial statements

 The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements'.  The Group has elected 
to present the 'statement of comprehensive income' in two statements: the 'income statement' and a 'statement of comprehensive income'.

 As the retrospective application of certain new and revised IFRSs in 2014 (see note 3.1 above) has not had a material effect on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2013, the Group is not required to present a third statement of financial 
position as at that date.  

4.3 Basis of consolidation

 The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 December 
2014. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has power to control the financial and operating policies. The Company obtains 
and exercises control through voting rights. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December.

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014
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 Intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group companies are eliminated. 
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment 
losses from the Group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

 Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised from the effective 
date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

 Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net assets that is not 
held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owner of the parent and the 
non-controlling interests based on their ownership interests.

4.4 Business combinations

 The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Group to 
obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration 
arrangement.  Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 

 Assets and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date value.

4.5 Investments in associates 

 Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither subsidiaries nor interests 
in a joint venture. The Group’s investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting.  Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the associate is included in 
the amount recognised as investment in associates.

 The carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group. 

 Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group's interest in those entities.  Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

4.6 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the 
period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.  The capitalisation rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is based on the rate of interest on bank borrowings.  Other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred and recognised in ‘finance costs’.

4.7 Foreign currency translation

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss.

 Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at the 
transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
fair value was determined.

 The only members of the Group that have a functional currency other than the euro are the associates NLI Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries, Medina Towers J.S.C. and the subsidiary Libya Hotels and Developments J.S.C. The functional currencies and presentation 
currencies of these entities are the Great Britain pound and Libyan dinar, respectively. On consolidation of these entities, the results 
for the year are translated at the average rate of exchange for the year. The Group’s share of reserves is translated at the closing rate. 
Exchange differences are charged or credited to comprehensive income and recognised in the translation reserve in equity.

4.8 Revenue
 
 Revenue comprises revenue from the sale of goods and the rendering of services.

 Revenue is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the Group for goods supplied and 
services provided, excluding VAT, rebates, and trade discounts.

 Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the transaction will flow to the entity, the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably, and when the criteria for each of 
the Group’s different activities has been met.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 Rental income from operating leases of the Group’s investment properties is recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

 Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised at 
the time the right to receive payment is established.

4.9 Operating lease payments 

 Payments on operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such 
as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 

4.10 Operating expenses

 Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin. 

4.11 Retirement benefit costs 

 The Group companies contribute towards state pensions in accordance with the relevant local legislation and do not contribute to any 
retirement benefit plans.  Related costs are recognised as an expense during the year in which they are incurred.

4.12 Intangible assets 

 Intangible assets are subject to impairment testing as described in note 4.15.  

 Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified and 
separately recognised. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  In respect of equity accounted investees, the 
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.  

 The brand represents the purchase consideration paid for the acquisition of the “Corinthia” brand name. It does not have a finite life 
and is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The brand is regarded as having an indefinite life since, based on all 
relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate cash inflows.

 Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset  from the date 
they are available for use as follows:

  Years
- Operating contracts 20
- Others 3

4.13 Property, plant and equipment

 Land and buildings held for use in supply of goods and services or administration are stated at revalued amounts. Revalued amounts 
are fair market values determined in appraisals by external professional valuers on an annual basis.

 Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the 'revaluation reserve'. To the extent that any 
revaluation decrease or impairment loss has previously been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase is credited to profit or 
loss with the remaining part of the increase recognised in other comprehensive income. Downward revaluations are recognised upon 
appraisal or impairment testing, with the decrease being charged to other comprehensive income to the extent of any revaluation 
surplus in equity relating to this asset and any remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus remaining in 
equity on disposal of the asset is transferred to retained earnings.

 Furniture and fittings, plant and equipment and motor vehicles are initially recognised at acquisition cost. Subsequently they are 
carried at acquisition cost less depreciation and impairment losses.

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended 
use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.  Borrowing costs related to 
the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost of such assets.

 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of assets less estimated residual value over their 
estimated useful lives. The periods generally applicable are:

  Years
- Freehold buildings 50
- Hotel plant and equipment 3-15
- Furniture, fixture and fittings 3-10
- Motor vehicles 5

 As no finite useful life for freehold land can be determined, related carrying amounts are not depreciated.

 Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

 When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and 
reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised directly in other comprehensive income. Any 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4.14 Investment property
 
 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for using the fair value model.

 Property that is being constructed for use as an investment property is included with investment property.

 Investment properties are revalued annually and are included in the balance sheet at their fair values. These values are supported by 
market evidence and are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to both the location and the 
nature of the investment property.

 Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment property is immediately recognised in profit 
or loss within 'change in fair value of investment property’.

 Rental income and operating expenses from investment property are reported within 'revenue' and 'direct costs' repectively. 

4.15 Impairment testing of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
 
 For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash 

inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating 
unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business 
combination and represent the lowest level within the group at which management monitors goodwill. 

 Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group's management as equivalent to its operating 
segments) are tested for impairment at least annually.  All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

 An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. To determine the value in use, management estimates 
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budgets, 
adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Cash flows and discount factors are 
determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect their respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk 
factors (see notes 11 and 14).

 Impairment losses on cash-generating units first reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that cash-generating unit. 
Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all 
assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment 
charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

4.16 Financial instruments
 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

 Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and 
substantially all risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transactions costs, except for financial assets and financial 
liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value.
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 Financial assets and liabilities are measured subsequently as described below.

 Financial assets
 
 For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments are 

classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 

- loans and receivables;
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); 
- held-to-maturity (HTM) investments; and 
- available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.

 
 The Group does not own any HTM investments.
 
 All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets 

are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to 
determine impairment are applied to each category of financial assets, and are described below.

 All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 'finance income' or 'finance 
costs', except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within 'administrative expenses'.

 
 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other 
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.  

 Loans advanced by the Company to its subsidiaries for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future, are treated as an extension to the Company’s net investment in those subsidiaries and included as part of the carrying amount 
of investments in subsidiaries.

 Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received 
that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment 
in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region of a counterparty and other available features of shared credit 
risk characteristics. The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each identified group. 
Impairment of trade receivables is presented within 'administrative expenses'.

 Financial assets at FVTPL
 
 Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or that meet certain conditions and are 

designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated 
and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply (see derivative financial instruments below). 
Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Gains or losses on derivative financial 
instruments are based on changes in fair value determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique 
where no active market exists.

 Investments in subsidiaries are presented in the Company’s balance sheet as financial assets at FVTPL at inception since these are 
managed and performance evaluated by key management in accordance with a documented strategy.

	 AFS	financial	assets

 AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any 
of the other categories of financial assets.

 AFS financial assets are measured at fair value.  Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and reported within 
equity, except for interest and dividend income, impairment losses and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are 
recognised in profit or loss.  When the asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired the cumulative gain or loss recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified from the equity reserve to profit or loss.  Interest calculated using the effective interest 
method and dividends are recognised in profit or loss within ‘finance income’.  Reversals of impairment losses for AFS securities are 
recognised in profit or loss if the reversal can be objectively related to an event after the impairment loss was recognised.  For AFS 
equity instruments, impairment reversals are not recognised in profit or loss and any subsequent change in fair value is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

 The Company’s available-for-sale financial assets include listed Government bonds and investments in associates. The Group’s 
available-for-sale financial assets include listed Government bonds.
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 Financial liabilities

 The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments.

 Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for financial liabilities held 
for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

 All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted for at fair value through 
profit and loss.

 All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included 
within 'finance income' or 'finance costs'.

 Derivative	financial	instruments	and	hedge	accounting
 
 Derivative financial instruments are accounted for at FVTPL, except for derivative designed as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge 

relationships, which require a specific accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet 
several strict conditions with respect to documentation, probability of occurrence of the hedged transaction and hedge effectiveness. 

 All derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting are recognised initially at fair value and reported subsequently at fair 
value in the balance sheet. 

 To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within the cash flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the 
hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income. However, if a non-financial 
asset or liability is recognised as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are included in the initial measurement of the hedged item. 

 If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur or if the hedging instrument becomes ineffective, any related gain or loss 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceases to 
meet the effectiveness conditions, hedge accounting is discontinued and the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve until the 
forecast transaction occurs. 

4.17 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less any applicable selling expenses.

 The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and 
bringing them to their existing location and condition.  

4.18 Income taxes

 Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income or equity.

 Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or 
prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss 
in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, or on the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on 
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be 
controlled by the Group and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period 
of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are always 
provided for in full. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilised against future taxable income.  
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised.
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 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off current tax assets and liabilities 
from the same taxation authority.

 Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, except where they 
relate to items that are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income or equity (such as the revaluation of land) in which case 
the related deferred tax is also recognised in the statement of comprehensive income or equity respectively.

4.19 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

4.20 Equity, reserves and dividend payments

 Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued.

 The revaluation reserve within equity comprises gains and losses from the revaluation of property (see note 22). 

 Foreign currency translation differences arising on the translation of the Group's foreign entities are included in the translation reserve 
(see note 23). This applies to the Group’s investment in the London and Libyan associates and the subsidiary Libya Hotels and 
Developments J.S.C.

 Gains and losses on certain financial instruments are included in other reserve (see note 24).

 The difference arising on the conversion of assets and liabilities from Maltese lira to euro prior to 1 January 2008 is included in the 
reporting currency conversion difference reserve (see note 25).

 Accumulated losses include all current and prior period losses less retained profits (see note 26).

 Other equity components include the increase in the fair value of the original shareholding in a subsidiary and the share of an associate’s 
hedging reserve (see note 27).

 All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity.  

 Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities (until paid) when the dividends have been 
approved in a general meeting prior to the reporting date.

4.21 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Provisions are recognised when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources 
from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation 
arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events. Restructuring provisions are 
recognised only if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has been developed and implemented, or management has at least 
announced the plan's main features to those affected by it. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

 Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence 
available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number 
of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations 
as a whole.  Where the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted to their present values.

 Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognised as 
a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.

 All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

 In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, 
no liability is recognised. 

 Possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets. 
 
4.22 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies

 The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the most significant 
effect on the financial statements.  Critical estimation uncertainties are described in note 4.23.
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 Deferred tax assets

 The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred tax assets can be utilised is based on the Group's latest 
approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused 
tax loss or credit.  The tax rules in the numerous jurisdictions in which the Group operates are also carefully taken into consideration.  If 
a positive forecast of taxable income indicates the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it can be utilised without a time 
limit, that deferred tax asset is usually recognised in full.  The recognition of deferred tax assets that are subject to certain legal or economic 
limits or uncertainties is assessed individually by management based on the specific facts and circumstances.

 Control assesment
 
 IFRS 10 requires the parent company to assess its involvement in its investee companies. Refer to note 16.4 for further details.

4.23 Estimation uncertainty

 Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.

 Impairment testing of non-financial assets and goodwill

 IIn assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-generating units based on expected 
future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating 
results and the determination of a suitable discount rate. 

 In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to market risk and the 
appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

 In the case of goodwill no impairment loss has been registered in the year under review (2013: nil). If the independent valuer’s discount 
rate was increased by 1% the valuation would decrease by approximately €4.5 million and the valuation would still be higher than the 
carrying amount.

 The Group has incurred an impairment loss of €40.6 million in 2014 (2013: €3.2 million) on its hotel properties to reduce the carrying 
amount to their recoverable amounts (see note 14.1). If the independent valuer’s discount rate was increased by 1% a further impairment 
loss of €78.7 million (2013: €73 million) would have to be recognised, of which €13.7 million (2013: €30 million) would be written off 
against reserves and €65 million (2013: €43 million) charged to the profit or loss account.

 Investment properties

 At each reporting date investment properties are revalued by independent valuers. The Group has recognised fair value adjustments 
to investments property of €15.4 million (2013: €0.5 million). When based on management’s estimate of expected future cash flows 
the value of each property is determined by applying a suitable discount rate. If the discount rate is changed by 1%, the fair value of 
investment property would change by €7 million (2013: €7 million).

 Useful lives of depreciable assets

 Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets to the 
Group.  The carrying amounts are analysed in note 14.  Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may 
change the utility of certain software and IT equipment.

 Income taxes

 In order to establish the taxation provisions, management exercises significant judgement in view of the fact that the Group operates in 
various jurisdictions and as a result there are diverse transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is somewhat uncertain.  In 
the event that the amount of actual tax due differs from the original amounts provided for, such variances will have an impact on the 
taxation charges for future periods.

 Inventories

 Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available at each 
reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by expiry, obsolescence, future technology or other market-
driven changes that may reduce net realisable value.
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 Allowance for trade and other receivables

 The Group creates allowances for doubtful receivables to account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make 
required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful receivables, management bases its estimates on the 
current overall market conditions, the ageing of account receivable balances, historical write-off experience, customer creditworthiness 
and changes in payment terms. Changes in the economy, industry or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the 
estimated allowance for doubtful receivables. 

4.24 Segment reporting

 The standard requires a “management approach” under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for 
internal reporting purposes. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s board of directors.

 An operating segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing services that are subject to risks and returns that are 
different from that of other segments. Each hotel is considered to be an operating segment.

 Hotel ownership, development and operations are the dominant source and nature of the Group’s risks and returns. The Group is also 
engaged in the ownership and leasing of its investment property. Operations are based in six countries, Malta being the home of the 
parent and management companies.

 The board of directors assesses performance based on the measure of EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation) of each hotel.

 The Group is not required to report a measure of total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment since such amounts are not 
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. However, in accordance with IFRS 8, non-current assets (other than financial 
instruments and deferred tax assets) are divided into geographical areas in note 5.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014

 The Group 
 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

Directors’ remuneration   520 600
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   10 57
Operating lease costs   137 137
Auditor’s remuneration   340 286
Cost of sales   7,175 8,508

 
 The Company 

 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000
 
Directors’ remuneration   520 600
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   49 21
Amortisation of intangible asset   151 195
Auditor’s remuneration   32 32 

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Wages and salaries 31,883 32,878 2,103 1,600
Social security contributions 4,147 4,624 40 37
Other staff costs 3,641 3,569 19 26  
 39,671 41,071 2,162 1,663  

Weekly average number of employees: No. No. No. No.
     
Management and administrative  393 393 21 21
Operating 1,484 1,595 - -  
 1,877 1,988 21 21  

6 RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 Results from operating activites are after the following charges:

7 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

 The Group  
 2014 2013
Finance income: €’000 €’000 
Interest receivable on:   
  Loans advanced to related companies 613 1,037
  Other balances 10 91
  Bank deposits 129 43
Exchange differences 1,037 105  
Finance income 1,789 1,276  
  
Finance costs:   
Interest payable on:   
  Bank borrowings (8,223) (9,024)
  Bonds (5,512) (5,803)
  Loans advanced by parent company and its subsidiaries (194) (875)
  Capital and other creditors (250) (50)
Amortisation of bond issue costs (191) (189)
Other costs (12) (250)
Exchange differences (442) (1,025)  
Finance costs (14,824) (17,216)  

8 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014

9 TAX INCOME (EXPENSE)

 Income tax on profits (losses) derived from local and foreign operations has been calculated at the applicable tax rates.

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Current taxation (1,418) 1,335 (158) (16,231)
Overprovision in respect of previous years 4,693 - - -
Deferred taxation 10,274 2,964 8,324 11,497  
 13,549 4,299 8,166 (4,734)  

 Up to September 2008 Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited (CTTL), one of the Group’s subsidiaries, benefitted from a tax holiday granted by the 
Libyan tax authorities.  CTTL applied for a three year extension of this tax holiday but in the absence of a confirmation that this was accepted 
by the Libyan authorities, CTTL provided for tax payable in Libya for the period October 2008 to September 2011. During the year under 
review CTTL received communications from Libyan authorities which show that it is entitled to benefit from an extended tax holiday period 
of three years starting from October 2008, being the date when the original tax holiday ended. In view of this CTTL reversed a provision for 
tax of €4.7 million which was reflected in the audited financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011. 

 Refer to note 32 for information on the deferred tax assets and liabilities.

9.1 Tax expense reconciliation

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Loss before tax (29,835) (4,033) (25,375) 13,032  
     
Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 10,443 1,412 8,881 (4,561)
Effect of income subject to foreign/different tax rates (1,880) 210 - -
Non-tax deductible expenses (1,109) (1,586) (715) (1,735)
Current year losses for which no deferred income is recognised - 341 - -
Effect of other consolidation adjustments 1,298 4,181 - -
Change in unrecognised temporary differences (1,188) (259) - 1,562
Effect of reduction in foreign tax rates on opening  temporary differences 1,290 - - -
Overprovision in respect of previous years 4,695 - - -  
Tax (expense) income 13,549 4,299 8,166 (4,734)  

9.2 Tax recognised in other comprehensive (expense) income

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
Tax effect on:   
  
Revaluation of hotel properties 5,332 (5,760) - -
Fair value adjustment on hedging instruments (83) (403) - -
Exchange translation difference (1,452) 296 - -
Fair value adjustment on AFS investments - - (3,246) (6,095)  

 3,797 (5,867) (3,246) (6,095)  

10 LOSS PER SHARE

 The calculation of (loss) earnings per share is based on the results for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders and the number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year of 554,238,573.
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 The Group

 Goodwill Brand Operating Others Total
   contracts

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
Cost
At 1 January 2013 24,841 19,600 23,334 1,228 69,003
Acquisitions  - - - 416 416
Disposal - - - (114) (114)

At 31 December 2013 24,841 19,600 23,334 1,530 69,305

     
At 1 January 2014 24,841 19,600 23,334 1,530 69,305
Acquisitions - - - 140 140

At 31 December 2014 24,841 19,600 23,334 1,670 69,445

Amortisation     
At 1 January 2013 15,114 - 7,196 598 22,908
Amortisation for the year - - 1,167 374 1,541

At 31 December 2013 15,114 - 8,363 972 24,449

     
At 1 January 2014 15,114 - 8,363 972 24,449
Amortisation for the year - - 1,167 273 1,440

At 31 December 2014 15,114 - 9,530 1,245 25,889

Carrying amounts     
At 1 January 2013 9,727 19,600 16,138 630 46,095

At 31 December 2013 9,727 19,600 14,971 558 44,856

At 31 December 2014 9,727 19,600 13,804 425 43,556

   The Company

  Brand Others Total
  €’000 €’000 €’000
Cost   
At 1 January 2013   19,600 481 20,081
Acquisitions    - 416 416
Disposals   - (114) (114)

At 31 December 2013   19,600 783 20,383

   
At 1 January 2014   19,600 783 20,383
Acquisitions    - 140 140

At 31 December 2014   19,600 923 20,523

Amortisation   
At 1 January 2013   - 241 241
Amortisation for the year   - 195 195

At 31 December 2013   - 436 436

   
At 1 January 2014   - 436 436
Amortisation for the year   - 151 151

At 31 December 2014   - 587 587
 
Carrying amounts   
At 1 January 2013   19,600 240 19,840

At 31 December 2013   19,600 347 19,947

At 31 December 2014   19,600 336 19,936

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 Goodwill

 For the purpose of impairment testing of the goodwill arising on the acquisition of CHI Limited (“CHI”), the directors have relied on the 
expert opinion of an independent third party.  The indicative valuation is based on the discounted cash flows derived from hotel operating 
projections as prepared by HVS International, specialists in hotel consulting and valuations (“HVS”).

 Brand

 In December 2010 the Company purchased the Corinthia brand from its parent company (CPHCL) for €19.6 million. This value was 
determined by independent valuers on the basis of the projected income statements of existing hotels as at the end of 2009 and is subject to 
an adjustment following a similar valuation exercise based on 2010 figures.

 The agreement also provides for a 10 year period within which any addition of Corinthia branded rooms to the brand portfolio will result 
in an additional payment of €6,400 per room to CPHCL. 

 The value of the brand was tested at year end together with CHI for any impairment. This valuation confirmed that there was no impairment.

 Operating contracts

 These contracts represent the assumed value attributable to the operation of hotel properties which arose on the acquisition of CHI in 2007. 

 The contracts were tested for impairment in conjunction with goodwill above and CHI. This valuation confirmed that there was no impairment

	 Key	assumptions	used	to	test	intangible	assets

 Value in use was determined by discounting the forecast future cash flows generated by CHI for a six year explicit period 2015 – 2020.

 The following are the key assumptions underlying the projections:

- revenue derived from IHI properties is based on operational projections prepared by HVS.  This accounts for 88% of the total revenue 
in the explicit period (2013 – 94%);

- revenue from other properties is assumed to increase by 5% per annum on 2014 budget (2013 – 5% on 2013 budget) (in-perpetuity 
growth rate of 1.5% per annum applied subsequently to the five year period covered by the explicit projections);

- the rates charged by CHI and the royalties payable to IHI and Ramada are assumed to remain unchanged at current levels;

- inflationary growth in operating expenses on 2015 budget is assumed to be 3.5% (2013 – 2% on 2014 budget); and

- a pre-tax discount rate of 14.14% was applied to the operating projections of CHI (2013 – 14.58%), based on a debt to equity ratio of 30:70. 

 This valuation confirmed that there was no impairment.

  Others

 Other intangible assets represent web-site development costs and licences, and are amortised over three years.
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12 REIMBURSEMENT ASSETS
 The Group

    
  2014 2013 
  €’000 €’000

At 1 January  22,566 23,449
Change in fair value  (879) (883)

At 31 December  21,687 22,566
  
 In view of group tax relief provisions applicable in Malta any tax due by Corinthia Palace Hotel Company Limited (“CPHCL”) on the 

transfer of the shares in IHI Towers s.r.o (“IHIT”) and Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited (“CTTL”) to IHI effected in 2007 was deferred. This 
tax will only become due in the eventuality that IHI sells the shares in IHIT and/or CTTL and/or their underlying properties outside the 
Group. In accordance with the indemnity agreement prepared at the time of the acquisition, CPHCL has indemnified the Group for future 
tax it may incur should the Group sell the shares or the underlying properties outside the Group. This indemnity will be equivalent to the 
tax that will be due by IHI on the gain that was untaxed in the hands of CPHCL. The indemnity has no time limit and has a maximum value 
of €45 million.

 The indemnity agreement provides that in the event of a sale of the shares in IHIT and/or CTTL and/or their underlying properties outside 
the Group, CPHCL will be liable for the tax that will be due on the gain that was exempt in the hands of CPHCL at the time of the sale.  Since 
it is certain that reimbursements will be received from CPHCL if IHI settles the obligation, the reimbursements have been recognised and 
treated as separate assets. 

 On the sale of its shares in Marina San Gorg Limited (“MSG”), CPHCL provided a tax indemnity to IHI. The sales contract was exempt from 
taxation on the basis that share capital of MSG was transferred rather than the hotel property. Should IHI dispose of the hotel property, it 
may become liable to tax that it would not have become liable to pay had CPHCL transferred the hotel property as opposed to the transfer of 
the issued share capital. The indemnity agreement provides that in this event, CPHCL will indemnify against any tax which IHI may incur 
or sustain up to a maximum of €4.77 million. The indemnity shall automatically expire on 13 February 2019.

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
 The Group

  2014 2013 
  €’000 €’000

At 1 January  191,964 191,393
Change in fair value (a)  (15,391) 571
Additions  102 -

At 31 December  176,675 191,964
  

a) At the balance sheet date, the fair value of investment property held by the Group in St. Petersburg has been decreased by the 
directors by €9.6 million (2013 – increase €0.4 million), relying on the expert opinion of Colliers International, an independent firm 
of estate valuers and consultants.

 The valuation of the investment property in Lisbon gave rise to a lower value than previously recorded of €155,000 (2013 - €29,000), 
based on the expert opinion of CPU, an independent firm of consultants.

 In 2014, the directors relying on the expert opinion of external professional valuers recognised an impairment of €5.6 million (2013 
- increase €0.2 million) in the value of the Commercial Centre in Tripoli (refer also to note 14.1).

 The fair value of the parcel of land adjacent to the Commercial Centre was retained. 

b) All investment property is hypothecated in favour of the Group’s bankers as collateral for amounts borrowed as stated in note 29.

c) Rental income earned by the Group for the period from investment property amounted to €10.3 million (2013 - €10.9 million) and 
direct expenses to €1 million (2013 - €1 million).

d) All investment property is leased out on operating leases which are not non-cancellable.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 The Group
    Furniture,  Assets in 
  Land and Plant and fixtures Motor the course of 
  buildings equipment & fittings vehicles construction Total
                €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
Cost/revalued amount      

Balance at 1 January 2013  688,744 80,250 72,598 1,024 8,831 851,447
Additions  218 1,687 2,298 49 517 4,769
Reallocations  2,554 717 554 - (3,825) -
Disposals  - (367) (36) (117) (224) (744) 
Balance at 31 December 2013  691,516 82,287 75,414 956 5,299 855,472 
      
      
Balance at 1 January 2014  691,516 82,287 75,414 956 5,299 855,472
Revaluation  13,728 - - - - 13,728
Additions  287 780 487 - 3,104 4,658
Reallocations  995 736 515 - (2,246) -
Disposals  - (28) (257) (24) (229) (538) 
Balance at 31 December 2014  706,526 83,775 76,159 932 5,928 873,320 
      
Depreciation and impairment losses      
      
Balance at 1 January 2013  167,775 68,153 59,172 865 - 295,965
Depreciation for the year  12,183 5,784 4,198 58 - 22,223
Net impairment losses  3,200 - - - - 3,200
Disposals  - (300) (34) (140) - (474) 
Balance at 31 December 2013  183,158 73,637 63,336 783 - 320,914 
      
Balance at 1 January 2014  183,158 73,637 63,336 783 - 320,914
Depreciation for the year  12,319 2,549 2,025 57 - 16,950
Net impairment losses  40,600 - - - - 40,600
Reallocations  - 51 (63) 12 - -
Disposals  - - (115) - - (115) 
Balance at 31 December 2014  236,077 76,237 65,183 852 - 378,349 
      
Carrying amounts      
      
At 1 January 2013  520,969 12,097 13,426 159 8,831 555,482 
At 31 December 2013  508,358 8,650 12,078 173 5,299 534,558 
At 31 December 2014  470,449 7,538 10,976 80 5,928 494,971   
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 The Company
  Furniture,  
 Plant and fixtures Motor 
 equipment & fittings vehicles Total 
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
Cost     
   
Balance at 1 January 2013 116 99 57 272
Additions 11 1 - 12
Disposals (13) - - (13) 
Balance at 31 December 2013 114 100 57 271 
    
Balance at 1 January 2014 114 100 57 271
Additions 37 - - 37
Disposals (13) - - (13) 
Balance at 31 December 2014 138 100 57 295 
    
Depreciation    

Balance at 1 January 2013 41 46 45 132
Depreciation for the year 5 11 5 21 
Balance at 31 December 2013 46 57 50 153 
    
Balance at 1 January 2014 46 57 50 153
Depreciation for the year 37 9 3 49 
Balance at 31 December 2014 83 66 53 202 
    
Carrying amounts    

At 1 January 2013 75 53 12 140 
At 31 December 2013 68 43 7 118 
At 31 December 2014 55 34 4 93 
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14.1 Impairment of assets

 In 2003, the Company opted to have its hotels and investment properties valued by third party experts.  This process involves the 
preparation of 10 year future cash flows prepared by an expert in the hospitality industry and financial modelling by an independent 
accountancy firm to determine an appropriate discount rate, to arrive at a value in use assessment, in line with the requirements of 
IAS 36, 'Impairment of Assets'.  This exercise has been ongoing on a yearly basis since 2003 and was once again repeated in the year 
under review.

 A value in use assessment has been carried out by independent advisors for the Company’s hotels and investment properties.  
In the case of the Corinthia Hotel Tripoli, in view of the significant difficulty in arriving at a value in use of the property in the 
present uncertain environment prevailing in Libya, the independent advisors presented several considerations and parameters to 
the directors for their consideration.  After giving due consideration to these proposals, the directors agreed to apply the increased 
country and other risk premia proposed by the independent accountants for the ten year projections. These higher premiums were 
taken into consideration in determining the discount rate to be applied for 2014 for these assets.

 In consequence of the higher discount rate applied and the weaker outlook on future performance, the value of the hotel property 
was impaired by €34.8 million.  This reduction was reviewed by the Company’s auditor, who considered it to be reasonable in the 
prevailing circumstances.  

 
 Impairment losses reflect lower than expected economic performances of the hotel properties, whereas reversals of such losses 

reflect improvements in previously projected net future cash flows from operations.
 
 Impairment losses and reversals have been recognised as follows:
   Recognised at  Recognised at
   1 January 2014 Change 31 December 2014

 Note €’000 €’000 €’000
Hotel property      
Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay, Malta  2,803 - 2,803
Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon  2,308 (1,240) 1,068
Corinthia Hotel Prague  13,745 - 13,745
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli  20,300 34,852 55,152
Corinthia Hotel Budapest  22,701 (10,357) 12,344
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg  31,792 19,111 50,903
Marina Hotel, St George’s Bay, Malta  1,887 (1,766) 121   
  95,536 40,600 136,136   

Reported in income statement    (2,081) 
Reported in revaluation reserve 22  42,681  
   40,600  

   Recognised at  Recognised at
   1 January 2013 Change 31 December 2013

 Note €’000 €’000 €’000
Hotel property     
Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay, Malta  2,803 - 2,803
Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon  7,308 (5,000) 2,308
Corinthia Hotel Prague  13,745 - 13,745
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli  20,300 - 20,300
Corinthia Hotel Budapest  22,701 - 22,701
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg  23,592 8,200 31,792
Marina Hotel, St George’s Bay, Malta  1,887 - 1,887  
  92,336 3,200 95,536  
     
Reported in income statement    (5,000) 
Reported in revaluation reserve 22  8,200 
   3,200 
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In assessing the recoverable amounts of the above hotel properties by reference to their value in use, the future cash flows to be derived 
from the continuing use and ultimate disposal were estimated in the currency in which they will be generated, and discounted by 
applying the following pre-tax discount rates.
 2014 2013  
 % %
Hotel property
Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon 7.87 8.69
Corinthia Hotel Prague 6.85 7.53
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli 12.32 10.88
Corinthia Hotel Budapest 8.20 8.76
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg 11.38 10.68
Marina Hotel, St George’s Bay, Malta 8.96 -

These discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to these hotel properties 
for which the future cash flow estimates used in arriving at their carrying amount have not been adjusted for.

The value of the Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay, Malta was based on its market value.

14.2 Carrying amounts of hotel properties
  
Following the revision of the hotel property carrying amounts to reflect the outcome of the valuation updated at each reporting period, 
the carrying amount of each hotel property is as follows:

 2014 2013  
 €’000 €’000
Hotel property
Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay, Malta 27,557 28,327
Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon 92,168 79,725
Corinthia Hotel Prague 74,039 76,700
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli 86,687 124,090
Corinthia Hotel Budapest 95,231 85,984
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg 90,729 113,448
Marina Hotel, St George’s Bay, Malta 22,499 20,896

 488,910 529,170

14.3 Historic cost of hotel properties

 If the cost model had been used the carrying amounts of the revalued properties would be €468.4 million (2013: €464.3 million). The 
revalued amounts include a revaluation surplus of €13.7 million before tax (2013 : €44 million), which is not available for distribution 
to the shareholders of IHI.

14.4 Security

 Certain tangible fixed assets owned by the Group are hypothecated in favour of the Group’s bankers as collateral for amounts borrowed 
as stated in note 29.
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

 The amounts stated in the balance sheet are analysed as follows:
  The Company

  2014 2013
  €’000 €’000

Share in subsidiary companies (note 15.1)   224,183 246,244
Loans to subsidiary companies   190,029 159,393

   414,212 405,637

Subsidiary company Registered office Nature of business %  Ownership
    2014 2013

Alfa Investimentos Avenida Columbana Owns and operates the 100 100
Turisticos Lda Bordalo Pinheiro Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon
 Lisboa 1099 - 031 Portugal
 Portugal

CHI Limited 1, Europa Centre, Hotel management company 100 100
 Floriana FRN 1400
 Malta

Corinthia Company Limited 22, Europa Centre Investment company 100 -
 Floriana FRN 1400 
 Malta

Corinthia Towers Tripoli 22, Europa Centre Owns and operates 100 100
Limited Floriana FRN 1400 the Corinthia Hotel Tripoli and 
 Malta Commercial Centre, Libya

Five Star Hotels Limited 22, Europa Centre Owns and operates the 100 100
 Floriana FRN 1400 Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay
 Malta Malta

IHI Benelux B.V.  Frederick Roeskestraat  Owns and operates the 100 100
 123,1076 EE Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg  
 Amsterdam, P.O. Box 72888 
 1070  AC, Amsterdam
 The Netherlands

IHI Benghazi Limited 22, Europa Centre Investment company 75 75
 Floriana FRN 1400  

 Malta

IHI Cyprus Limited 1 Naousis Investment company 100 100
 Karapatakis Building
 P.C. 6018, Larnaca
 Cyprus

IHI Hungary Zrt Erzsebet Krt Owns and operates  100 100
 43-49 the Corinthia Hotel Budapest   
 H-1073, Budapest 
 Hungary

IHI Lisbon Limited 22, Europa Centre Investment company 100 100
 Floriana FRN 1400 holding an equity stake
 Malta in Alfa Investimentos Turisticos Lda

IHI St Petersburg LLC 57, Nevskij Prospect Investment company 100 100
 St Petersburg 191025   
 Russian Federation

IHI Towers s.r.o. Kongresová 1655/1 Owns and operates 100 100 
 1406 / 69 Praha 4 the Corinthia Hotel Prague
 Czech Republic 

IHI Zagreb d.d. Centar Kaptol Investment company 100 100
 Nova Ves 11
 10000 Zagreb   
 Croatia 

Libya Hotels and  Benghazi Libya Owns the Benghazi hotel project 55 -
Developments J.S.C. 

Marina San Gorg Limited 22, Europa Centre Owns and operates the 100 100
 Floriana FRN 1400 Marina Hotel  in St George’s Bay, Malta
 Malta
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15.1 Shares in subsidiary companies
  The Company

  2014 2013
  €’000 €’000

At 1 January   246,244 281,003
Acquisition of equity   - 2
Change in fair value   (22,061) (34,761)

At 31 December   224,183 246,244

 
15.2 Investments in subsidiaries at FVTPL

 The fair values of the investments of IHI in its subsidiaries, accounted for at FVTPL, have been determined by reference to the fair 
values of the underlying properties held by the respective subsidiaries and, in the case of CHI Limited, by reference to its enterprise 
value.  Specific to the fair value of these investments, account has been taken of:

(i) the deferred tax liabilities arising as a result of the revaluation to fair value of such properties, on the basis that the directors will 
pursue a sale of the shares held by IHI in its subsidiary companies, notwithstanding that, as the tax rules stand today, it may be 
more tax efficient to sell the underlying properties; and

ii) the tax indemnity granted by CPHCL, the previous owner of the shares now held in Marina San Gorg Limited, Corinthia Towers 
Tripoli Limited and IHI Towers s.r.o., details of which are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

15.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

 The Group has a subsidiary, Libya Hotels and Developments J.S.C., with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

 Name Proportion of Profit (loss) Accumulated 
  ownership interest to NCI NCI
  and voting rights
  held by NCI

  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
  % % €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
      
 Libya Hotels and Developments J.S.C. 55 - (20) - 630 -

16 ASSOCIATES

16.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method

  The Group

  2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

At 1 January   201,689 167,441
Share of results   (14,537) (5,788)
Share of other comprehensive income   18,380 41,616
Exchange differences   7,709 (1,580)

At 31 December   213,241 201,689
 

16.2 Investments in associates
  The Company

  2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

At 1 January   203,656 171,129
Increase in fair value   17,335 32,527

At 31 December 220,991 203,656
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16.3 Associate companies

Company name Registered office Nature of business %  Ownership

    2014 2013

INI Hotels Holdings Limited Naousis 1 Investment company  50 50
 Karapatakis Building
 6018, Larnaca
 Cyprus
 

INI Hotels Management Naousis 1 Investment company  50 50
Company Limited Karapatakis Building
 6018, Larnaca
 Cyprus
 

Medina Towers J.S.C. Suite 107, Tower 2 Owns the Medina Tower project  25 25
 Tripoli Tower in Tripoli
 Tripoli
 Libya

NLI Holdings Limited CTV House Parent company of a group that owns 50 50
 La Pouquelaye the Corinthia Hotel London and
 St Helier 10 Whitehall Place, London, UK
 Jersey

QPM Limited 22, Europa Centre Project management  20 20
 Floriana FRN 1400
 Malta

 
16.4 Significant judgements and assumptions

 The Group holds 50% of the ordinary shares and voting rights of NLI Holdings limited group (NLI). Management has assessed its 
involvement in NLI in accordance with IFRS 10’s control definitions and guidance. It has concluded that it has significant influence but 
not outright control, which rests with the board of directors in Jersey.

 Management has assessed its involvement in Medina Towers J.S.C. It has concluded that it has significant influence but not outright 
control. The remaining 80% of QPM Limited is held by CPHCL, the ultimate parent company and hence control rests with that 
company.

 INI Hotels Holdings Limited and INI Hotels Management Company Limited, both with a Group shareholding of 50%, have not yet 
commenced operations and therefore no assessment will be made until operations commence.
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16.5 Summary of financial information of associate companies

 The Group has two material associates, the NLI Holdings Limited group and Medina Towers J.S.C.

 Summarised financial information are set out below:

NLI Holdings Limited group  2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

Non-current assets   592,104 648,596
Current assets   13,063 14,273  
Total assets   605,167 662,869  
  
Non-current liabilities   163,796 -
Current liabilities   26,800 283,052  
Total liabilities   190,596 283,052  
   
Revenue   60,987 55,700  
  
Loss for the year   (29,133) (11,797) 
  
Other comprehensive income    36,760 83,272  
  
Total comprehensive income   7,627 71,475  

Medina Towers J.S.C.  2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

Non-current assets   38,465 36,905
Current assets   12,589 13,092  
Total assets   51,054 49,997  
  
Current liabilities   521 316  
Total liabilities   521 316  
  
Revenue   - -  
  
Profit for the year   19 188  
  
Other comprehensive income    - -  
  
Total comprehensive income   19 188  

16.6 Reconciliation of summarised financial information

 
  Ownership Interest Net assets Carrying amount

  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
  % % €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
      
 NLI Holdings Limited group 50 50 414,571 379,818 207,285 189,909
 Medina Towers J.S.C. 25 25 50,803 49,681 12,701 12,420
 Difference on exchange on original
   cost of investment     (7,750) (1,621)  
      212,236 200,708  
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16.7 Gross aggregate amounts of financial information of associate companies that are not individually material

 Summarised aggregated financial information of the Group’s share in these associates:

  2014 2013
 €’000 €’000

Profit for the year   123 318
Other comprehensive income   - -

 
Total comprehensive income   123 318

 
  
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interests in these associates   1,005 981

 
  
Share of contingent liabilities of associates   - -  

17 LOANS RECEIVABLE

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
Non-current  
Group companies - - 71,659 70,259
Associate company 3,208 44,332 3,208 44,332  
Total non-current loans receivable 3,208 44,332 74,867 114,591  
     
The carrying amount of loans receivable is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Terms

The loan to the associate company is unsecured, bears interest at 3% per annum and is subordinated to bank debt. In 2013, out of the 
total balance, £7.5 million bore no interest.

The loan to Group companies is unsecured, bears interest at Euribor + 3% or 0.1% and are subordinated to bank loans.

18 INVENTORIES
  The Group  

   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000

Food and beverages   724 1,022
Consumables   568 592
Goods held for resale   43 34
Others   3,972 3,806  
   5,307 5,454  
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 The Group The Company  

 2014 2013 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

 
Trade receivables 9,473 17,103 - -
Amounts owed by:    
  Parent company 1,886 1,332 650 -
  Subsidiary companies - - 22,285 58,578
  Associate companies 507 1,757 113 174
  Other related companies 4,373 4,494 - -
  Other debtors 1,099 1,047 131 135
Accrued income 2,559 1,974 1,899 1,501  
Financial assets 19,897 27,707 25,078 60,388
Recoverable VAT on capital expenditure - 512 - -
Advance payments in respect of capital creditors 925 708 - -
Prepayments 2,487 2,892 107 95  
Total receivables – current 23,309 31,819 25,185 60,483  

19.1 Impairment losses on trade receivables

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
  The Group  

   2014 2013

Not past due  2,123 1,889
Past due 0-30 days  1,365 3,884
Past due 31-120 days  1,760 3,113
Past due 121-360 days  3,867 4,064
More than one year  3,868 10,142  
Gross amount  12,983 23,092  
  
Past due 31-120 days  (74) (102)
Past due 121-360 days  (1,933) (655)
More than one year  (1,503) (5,232)  
Impaired amount  (3,510) (5,989)  

  
Net amount  9,473 17,103   

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the period was as follows:
   2013 2012

 €’000 €’000

 At 1 January  5,989 5,361
 Written-off balances  (3,330) -
 Impairment losses recognised  851 711
 Imapaiment losses reversed  - (83)  
 At 31 December  3,510 5,989  

The impairment loss at year’s end mainly relates to specific provisions for doubtful debtors that have been overdue for more than one 
year.  Such balances were unsecured.

Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment loss is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or 
on the remaining portion of debtors which have not been provided for which are past due by up to 120 days as these amounts relate to 
customers that have a good track record with the Group.

The allowance accounts in respect of trade receivables are used to record impairment losses unless the Group considers that no 
recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amounts are considered irrecoverable and are written off against the 
financial asset directly.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014
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20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Cash and bank balances:  
Current 19,480 10,248 4,730 1,158  
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 19,480 10,248 4,730 1,158
Bank overdraft (1,630) (4,757) - -  
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 17,850 5,491 4,730 1,158  

The bank balances include amounts of €3.2 million (2013 - €3.2 million) is set aside by two subsidiary companies for debt servicing 
requirements and €1.7 million (2013 - €1.7 million) is set aside by another subsidiary for capital expenditure purposes.

21 SHARE CAPITAL

21.1 Authorised share capital

The authorised share capital consists of 1,000 million ordinary shares of a nominal value of €1 each.

21.2 Issued share capital

 The issued share capital consists of 554,238,573 ordinary shares of €1 each, fully paid up.
  The Company  

   2014  2013
   €’000  €’000

At  1 January and 31 December   554,238  554,238     

21.3 Shareholder rights

 Shareholders are entitled to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the Company on the basis of one vote for each share held. They are 
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time. The shares in issue shall, at all times, rank pari passu with respect to any 
distribution whether of dividends or capital, in a winding up or otherwise.
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22 REVALUATION RESERVE
  

 The Group

 Bonus
   Revaluation Deferred share
   surplus taxation issue Net
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 January 2013    107,496 (24,386) (22,838) 60,272

     
Revaluations/(impairments) of hotel property carried out at year end:    
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg   (8,200) 1,640 - (6,560)
Corinthia Hotel London   39,466 (7,400) - 32,066

   31,266 (5,760) - 25,506

    
Transfer to accumulated losses   (1,500) 390 - (1,110)

At 31 December 2013    137,262 (29,756) (22,838) 84,668

    
At 1 January 2014   137,262 (29,756) (22,838) 84,668
    
Revaluations (impairments) of hotel property carried out at year end:    
Corinthia Hotel Lisbon   13,728 (3,089) - 10,639
Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg   (15,867) 2,610 - (13,257)
Corinthia Hotel Tripoli   (26,814) 9,173 - (17,641)
Corinthia Hotel London   17,933 (3,362) - 14,571

   (11,020) 5,332 - (5,688)

    
Transfer to accumulated losses   (638) 223 - (415)

At 31 December 2014    125,604 (24,201) (22,838) 78,565

23 TRANSLATION RESERVE
 
 The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

24 OTHER RESERVE

 The reserve represents the following unrealised gains, net of related deferred taxation.
  The Company  

   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000

Fair value (loss) gain on investments in subsidiary companies   (1,161) 13,179
Fair value gain on investments in associates   105,483 90,762
Issue of bonus shares   (22,838) (22,838)
Transfer of accumulated losses   (9,313) (9,313)  
   72,171 71,790  

25 REPORTING CURRENCY CONVERSION DIFFERENCE

 The reporting currency conversion difference represents the excess of total assets over the aggregate of total liabilities and funds attributable 
to the shareholders, following the re-denomination of the paid-up share capital from Maltese lira to euro in 2003.



FS - 52INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVESTMENTS P.L.C. REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014

26 RETAINED EARNINGS (ACCUMULATED LOSSES)

 The loss for the year has been transferred to retained earnings (accumulated losses) as set out in the statements of changes in equity.

27 OTHER EQUITY COMPONENTS
  The Group  

   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000

Increase in value of original shareholding in CHI pursuant to independent valuation 
  carried out on acquisition of further shareholding in 2006, net of deferred tax 3,859 3,859
Share of hedging reserve of associate company - (364)
Fair value of AFS investments 632 -  
 4,491 3,495  

28 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

 The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.  The board of directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as the profit for the year 
divided by total equity.

 The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 
and security afforded by a sound capital position.  The Group seeks to maximise the return on shareholders’ equity and to reduce the 
incidence of interest expense.  The interest expense expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing borrowings was 4.6% (2013 – 4.6%).

 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

29 BANK BORROWINGS
 The Group The Company  

 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Bank overdraft 1,630 4,757 -  -
Bank loans 203,383 210,776 8,100  11,200  
 205,013 215,533 8,100  11,200  
     
Comprising:     
Non-current bank borrowings     
Bank loans due within 2 – 5 years 102,765 95,121 5,000  8,100
Bank loans due later than 5 years 79,787 95,479 -  500  
 182,552 190,600 5,000  8,600  
Current bank borrowings     
Bank overdraft 1,630 4,757 -  -
Bank loans due within 1 year 20,831 20,176 3,100  2,600  
 22,461 24,933 3,100  2,600  
 

 The carrying amount of bank borrowings is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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Terms and repayment schedule

International Hotel Investments p.l.c.    
Bank loan I
2014 600 600 - -
2013 1,200 600 600 -

    
Bank loan II  
2014 3,000 1,500 1,500 -
2013 4,500 1,000 3,500 -

Bank loan III    
2014 4,500 1,000 3,500 - 
2013 5,500 1,000 4,000 500 
    

Five Star Hotels Limited    
Bank overdraft     
2014 349 349 - -
2013 1,879 1,879 - - 

   
Bank loan    
2014 1,271 1,271 - -
2013 2,143 833 1,310 -

Alfa Investimentos Turisticos Lda    
Bank loan I(a)    
2014 16,178 2,151 10,105 3,922
2013 18,219 2,042 9,352 6,825

   
Bank loan I(b)    
2014 14,030 - - 14,030
2013 14,030 - - 14,030

   
Bank loan II    
2014 62 62 - -
2013 312 250 62 -

    
Bank loan III    
2014 1,352 451 901 -
2013 1,803 451 1,352 -

Bank overdraft     
2014 - - - -
2013 850 850 - - 

2015

2019

2019

On demand

2015

2022

2022

 

2015

2017

On demand

General hypothec for €3.6 million over all Company assets 
present and future. General hypothecary guarantee over all 
Company assets present and future and special hypothecary 
guarantee over the Corinthia Hotel St George’s Bay.

Bank euro base rate + 2.5%

As for bank loan I
6 month Euribor + 3.0%

First general hypothec for €1.66 million and third general 
hypothec for €9.5 million over all of the Company assets 
present and future. Joint and several suretyship with a related 
company and a first special hypothec over property owned 
by this company. Second ranking mortgage guarantee by 
Thermal Hotel Aquincum Rt over the Aquincum Hotel.

6 month Euribor + 1.5%

General hypothec over assets belonging to Five Star Hotels 
Limited supported by a special hypothec and privilege 
over the leasehold land and buildings and a pledge over 
the company’s comprehensive insurance policies.

Bank euro base + 2.5%

As for overdraft
Bank euro base rate + 2.5%

Secured by mortgages over the Corinthia Hotel & Spa 
Lisbon including land.

3 month Euribor + 1.25%

Secured by mortgages over the Corinthia Hotel & Spa 
Lisbon including land.

Fixed at 6.24% up to April 2013, at which point it will be 
merged with Loan I(a)

Secured by a second ranking mortgage over the Corinthia 
Hotel & Spa Lisbon including land and a blank bill of exchange.

3 month Euribor + 1.75%

Secured by a second ranking mortgage over the Corinthia 
Hotel & Spa Lisbon including land and a blank bill of exchange.

3 month Euribor + 6.0%

Promissory note and letter of comfort from parent company.

7.5% on 1 month Euribor + 4.95%

  Within Between After  Year of
 Total 1 year 2-5 years 5 years Security and nominal interest rate maturity 
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 
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IHI Benelux B.V.   
Bank loan   
2014 55,248 1,101 11,083 43,064
2013 49,095 2,700 23,040 23,355
    

IHI Hungary Zrt.    
Bank loan    
2014 29,235 2,298 26,937 -
2013 31,383 2,148 29,235 -
    

Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited    
Bank loan I    
2014 250 250 - -
2013 2,000 2,000 - -

   Bank loan II    
2014 36,667 6,667 30,000 -
2013 40,000 6,667 26,667 6,666
    
    
   
IHI Towers sro   
Bank loan    
2014 30,840 2,284 9,815 18,771
2013 33,018 2,179 9,489 21,350
 
    

 
Marina San Gorg Limited    
Bank overdraft    
2014 44 44 - -
2013 121 121 - -

Bank loan I
2014 538 538 - -
2013 833 275 558 -

Bank loan II
2014 8,612 400 8,212 -
2013 - - - -

   
CHI Limited
Bank overdraft 
2014 857 857 - -
2013 1,907 1,907 - -

Bank loan I    
2014 1,000 288 712 -
2013 - - - -

2018

2019

2014

2014

2020

On demand

2015

2018

On demand

2017

Secured over the Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg and adjacent 
commercial buildings. Subordination of loans due to the 
parent company and by a pledge on the comprehensive 
insurance policy.

3 month Euribor + 4.6%

Secured by a mortgage over the Corinthia Hotel Budapest 
and by a security deposit over the shares of IHI Hungary 
Zrt and by cash collateral. In addition, IHI, CPHCL and 
Corinthia Investments Limited have provided additional 
financial guarantees to the bankers granting this loan. As 
part of this loan agreement no repayment of group loans can 
be effected except with the consent of the security agent.

3 month Euribor + 1.98% (composite rate)

Secured by a pledge on shares in Corinthia Towers Tripoli 
Limited.
 
3 month Libor + 2.25% 

Secured by a pledge on shares in Corinthia Towers Tripoli 
Limited.

3 month Euribor + 2.0% 

Secured by mortgages over the Corinthia Hotel Prague 
and by a pledge on shares, movables, bank accounts and 
insurance policy.

3 month Euribor + 1.45% 

General hypothec over assets belonging to Marina San Gorg 
Limited supported by a special hypothec and privilege 
over the leasehold land and buildings and a pledge over 
the company’s comprehensive insurance policies.

Bank base rate + 2.5%

As per bank overdraft

Bank base rate + 2.50%  

As per bank overdraft

Bank base rate + 2.5%

  

Secured by a general hypothec over the company’s assets 
and by a guarantee given by IHI and CPHCL.
Bank base rate + 3.0%

As per bank overdraft

Bank base rate + 3.0%

  Within Between After  Year of
 Total 1 year 2-5 years 5 years Security and nominal interest rate maturity 
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

Terms and repayment schedule (continued)
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30 BONDS

   2014 2013 
   €’000 €’000

Bond II - 2,500
Bond III 34,762 34,678
Bond IV 24,641 24,758
Bond V 19,633 19,592
Bond VI 9,876 9,865 
 88,912 91,393 
  
Non-current 88,912 88,893
Current - 2,500 
 88,912 91,393 

(i) The Company has the following bonds in issue:

  Year of issue Nominal amount Rate of interest Maturity date Redemption
   on issue %  option period
   €’000

Bond II 2006 12,500 6.50 27 March 2014 Redeemed in 2014
Bond III 2009 35,000 6.25 10 July 2019 2015 - 2019
Bond IV 2010 25,000 6.25 8 April 2020 2017 - 2020
Bond V 2012  20,000 5.80 21 December 2021 -
Bond VI 2013 10,000 5.80 14 November 2023 -

 In the case of bonds III and IV the Company has the right to redeem the bond or any part thereof at any time prior to the stated maturity 
date during the redemption option period.

(ii) Interest 
 Interest is payable annually in arrears on the due date.

(iii) Security 
 The bonds constitute the general, direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company and will rank pari 

passu, without any priority or preference, with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

(iv) Sinking funds
 The prospectus for bonds III, IV and V provides for the setting up of a sinking fund administered by a trustee to cover 50% of the 

repayment of the bonds on maturity. By 31 December 2014 the amounts set aside for this purpose totalled €8.0 million (2013 - €2.3 
million). In March 2015 the company transferred a further amount of € 1.2 million to satisfy the requirements of the Listing Authority 
Policy Guidelines on Sinking Funds for the redemption of bonds. 

(v) The carrying amount of the bonds is as follows:

Pre-euro
  bond I II III IV V VI
  €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 January 2013 4,054 1,690 12,475 34,600 24,711 19,557 -
Transfer - - (9,995) - - - 9,995
Proceeds from issue/cash settlement (4,061) (1,688) - - - - 5
Issue costs - -  - - (4) (135)
Amortisation of transaction costs  7 (2) 20 78 47 39 -
At 31 December 2013 - - 2,500 34,678 24,758 19,592 9,865
Cash settlement - - (2,500) - (168) - -
Amortisation of transaction costs    - 84 51 41 11
At 31 December 2014 - - - 34,762 24,641 19,633 9,876

The carrying amount of bonds is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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31 OTHER INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS

  The Group  
   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000
Amounts owed to:   
  Shareholders   5,091 -
  Parent company   - 13,236
  Associate companies   55 71
  Related companies   180 221

   5,326 13,528

Non-current liabilities   
Amounts owed to:   
  Parent company   - 13,236  

Current liabilities   
Amounts owed to:   
  Shareholders   5,091 -
  Associate companies   55 71
  Related companies   180 221

   5,326 292

The carrying amount of other interest bearing borrowings is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
 The Company

  2014 2013
  €’000 €’000
Non-current liabilities
Amounts owed to:  
  Parent company  - 13,236

Current liabilites
  Amounts owed to:
  Shareholders  5,091 -

The terms of the amounts owed are as follows:

 €’000 Interest Repayable by

At 31 December 2014   
Shareholders 5,091 3.5% Due by the end of 2015
Associate companies 55 3 month Euribor + 2.0% On demand
Related companies 180 6.0% On demand 
 5,326   
 
At 31 December 2013   
Parent company 13,236 5.0% Due by the end of 2014
Associate companies 71 3 month Euribor + 2.0% On demand
Related companies 221 6.0% On demand   
 13,528   
None of the loans is secured. 
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32 DEFERRED TAXATION

 The Group The Company    
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Tax effect of temporary differences relating to:     
Excess of tax base over carrying amount of tangible fixed assets  34,589 28,080 59 56
Unrelieved tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances  (25,803) (19,317) (598) -
Investment in intangible asset 5,277 5,686 - -
Investment in subsidiary 5,150 5,150 4,525 12,246
Investment in associate 24,006 20,748 23,932 20,686
Tax effect on revaluation of land and buildings 22,973 35,485 - -
Tax effect on revaluation of investment property 16,997 20,933 - -
Provision for exchange differences (858) (651) (57) (49)
Provision for doubtful debts  (531) (408) - -
Derivatives - (279) - -
Accrued charges 932 1,376 - -   
 82,732 96,803 27,861 32,939   
The movement can be analysed as follows:      
Movement for the year 14,071 (2,903) (5,078) (5,402)
      
Recognised directly in equity      
Deferred tax on components of comprehensive income (note 9.2)    (3,797)      5,867 (3,246) (6,095)   
Recognised in profit or loss 10,274 2,964 (8,324) (11,497)   

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses of certain subsidiaries. The tax losses expire as follows:

 The Group 
 2014 2013
 €’000 €’000
Expiry   
2014 - 3,085
2015 5,078 3,375
2016 - 2,704
2017 2,742 1,703
2018 592 2,745
2019 - 535 
 8,412 14,147 

Deferred tax benefits arising out of certain tax losses which may become available for set-off against future taxable income have not been 
recognised in these financial statements as it cannot be determined with reasonable certainty whether the respective Group companies 
would be in a position to claim the right to utilise such losses before their expiry. 
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 The Group The Company  
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Trade payables  9,301 10,591 362 394
Amounts owed to:      
  Parent company  1,256 3,698 67 1,559
  Subsidiary companies  - - 6,634 8,548
  Associate companies  984 702 211 -
  Other related parties  634 763 62 202
Capital creditors  164 418 - -
Other creditors  2,138 2,594 260 154
Accruals  14,007 14,805 3,242 4,641    
Financial liabilities  28,484 33,571 10,838 15,498
Advance payments  5,298 7,715 - -
Statutory liabilities  782 749 91 129    
Total payables – current  34,564 42,035 10,929 15,627    

The carrying amount of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

34 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000
Interest rate swaps:   
  Current    - 1,466  
   
34.1 Terms

   2014 2013
   €’000 €’000

Notional amount:    
  maturing in 2014   - 36,391  

Interest rates:

2014 (Matured)
Receive variable interest at the rate of 3 month Euribor
Pay fixed interest at the rate of  4.15% per annum

35 CASH FLOW ADJUSTMENTS

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Adjustments:     
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,950 22,223 49 21
  Provision for doubtful debts 851 628 - -
  Fair value adjustment on derivative financial instruments (1,466) (1,789) - -
  (Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) 57 - -
  Amortisation of intangible assets 1,440 1,542 151 195
  Net impairment reversal (2,081) (5,000) - -
  Fair value adjustment on investment in subsidiaries - - 22,061 2,666
  Fair value adjustment on investment properties 15,391 (571) - -
  Share of results of associate companies 14,537 5,788 - -
  Movement in reimbursement of assets 879 833 - -
  Amortisation of transaction costs 187 189 187 189
  Interest receivable (742) (1,171) - (80)
  Interest payable 14,178 16,191 - -
  Provision for exchange difference 545 910 (2)  -   
 60,659 39,830 22,446 2,991   
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36 COMMITMENTS
  The Group  

   2014 2013
   €’000  €’000
Contracted for:   
  Five Star Hotels Limited (Corinthia Hotel St.George’s Bay, Malta)  550 -
  Alfa Investimentos Turisticos Lda (Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon)  508 500
  IHI Benelux B.V. (Corinthia Hotel St. Petersburg)  132 500
  IHI Hungary zrt (Corinthia Hotel Budapest)  529 250
  IHI Towers sro (Corinthia Hotel Prague)  646 -
  Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited (Corinthia Hotel Tripoli)  1,223 -
  IHI Benghazi Limited  - 880
  Marina San Gorg Limited  334 150  
  3,922 2,280  
Authorised but not yet contracted for:   
  Alfa Investimentos Turisticos Lda (Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon)  2,000 1,700
  IHI Benelux B.V. (Corinthia Hotel St. Petersburg)  23,500 3,500
  IHI Hungary zrt (Corinthia Hotel Budapest)  2,000 1,000
  IHI Towers sro (Corinthia Hotel Prague)  600 -
  IHI Benghazi Limited  - 110
  Medina Towers J.S.C.  11,400 11,400
  Marina San Gorg Limited  - 150
  Other investments  1,500 -  
  41,000 17,860  
   
  44,922 20,140
    

Operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are as follows:
   2014  2013
   €’000  €’000
     
Less than one year  137 137
Between one and five years  565 565
More than five years  15,457 15,594

  16,159 16,296

The above lease rentals arise on the temporary emphyteusis for a period of 99 years in relation to the land underlying the Corinthia Hotel 
St George’s Bay, Malta.

During the year ended 2014, € 137,000 (2013 - €137,000) was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases.

37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company, together with an associate company, is a co-defendant in court proceedings against them for unpaid professional fees.  
The Company’s share of this claim is estimated at €0.8 million. The Company believes that it has a strong defence in respect of this claim, 
which it is vigorously defending in court. Court proceedings are still at an early stage and therefore a possible outcome cannot be foreseen.

 
38 RELATED PARTIES

The Group’s related parties include its associates, key management, fellow subsidiaries and shareholders of the ultimate parent company. 

None of the transactions incorporates special terms and conditions and, except as disclosed in note 12, no guarantees were given or received.  
Transactions with related companies are generally effected on a cost plus basis or on the basis of pre-agreed arrangements. Outstanding 
balances are usually settled in cash. Amounts owed by/to related parties are shown separately in notes 17, 19 and 33.
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38.1 Related parties
 The Group The Company  

 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Revenue     
Services rendered to:     
  Parent company  1,228 775 1,000 600
  Fellow subsidiaries  1,353 931 1,193 1,235
  Associate companies  3,426 4,241 591 546   
 6,007 5,947 2,784 2,381   
Direct costs    
Charged by:     
  Parent company  (70) (70) - -
 (70) (70) - -   
Financing     
Interest receivable    
  Parent company  167 - 102 -
  Fellow subsidiaries  - - 2,031 1,931
  Associate companies  446 1,037 431 1,037
Interest payable     
  Parent company (194) (875) (119) (798)   
 419 162 2,445 2,170   
     
Income 6,356 6,039 5,229 4,551          

38.2 Transactions with key management personnel

In addition to the remuneration paid to the directors included in note 7, in the course of its operations the Group has a number of 
arrangements in place with its officers, executives and other related parties whereby concessions are made available for hospitality 
services rendered to them according to accepted industry norms.

In 2014 the remuneration of the executive directors and senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to €3.5 million 
(2013: €3.2 million). The foregoing amount is all fixed remuneration. There are no variable remunerations nor share options.

39 RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to various risks through its use of financial instruments. The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk, which result from both its operating and investing activities. The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its head office, in 
close co-operation with the board of directors and focuses on actively securing the Group's short to medium term cash flows by minimising 
the exposure to financial markets.  Long term financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns.

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions and the Group’s activities.  The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop 
a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The audit committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the 
results of which are reported to the audit committee. 

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most significant 
financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below. See also note 39.4 for a summary of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities by category.
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39.1 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the 
carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the balance sheet date, as summarised below:

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Classes of financial assets – carrying amounts     
  
Reimbursement assets 21,687 22,566 - -
Investments in subsidiaries - - 224,183 246,244
Long term loans 3,208 44,332 264,896 273,984
Cash held by trustee 7,967 2,303 7,967 2,303
Trade and other receivables 19,897 28,218 25,078 60,388
Cash and cash equivalents 19,480 10,248 4,730 1,158  
 72,239 107,667 526,854 584,077  

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the Group’s 
customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. 

 The subsidiary companies within the Group have, over the years, conducted business with various corporates, tour operators and individuals 
located in different jurisdictions and, owing to the spread of the Group’s debtor base, there is no concentration of credit risk.

 The Group has a credit policy in place under which new customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard 
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, where available, and in some cases bank 
references. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a cash basis.

 In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are individually assessed. Customers that are graded as “high risk” are placed on a restricted 
customer list and future sales are only made on a prepayment basis. 

 The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. The Group establishes an allowance for doubtful recoveries 
that represents its estimate of losses in respect of trade and other receivables.  See note 19.1 for further information on impairment of financial 
assets that are past due.

 Cash at bank

 The Group’s cash is placed with quality financial institutions, such that management does not expect any institution to fail to meet repayments 
of amounts held in the name of the companies within the Group.

 Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit 
quality, including those that are past due.  See note 19.1 for further information on impairment of financial assets that are past due.  

39.2 Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they fall due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

 The Group actively manages its cash flow requirements. Each subsidiary company within the Group updates its cash flow on a 
monthly basis.  Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period 
of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.  
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 At 31 December 2014 the Group has financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments, with contractual maturities which 
are summarised below:

 The Group
 Current Non-current  
31 December 2014 Within 6 - 12 2 - 5 More than 
 6 months months years 5 years
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Non-derivatives:    
  Bank borrowings 9,048 9,515 95,632  87,897
  Bonds 1,563 3,928 55,866  60,031
  Parent company loan and other interest bearing borrowings - 5,512 -  -
  Bank overdraft 1,630 - -  -
  Trade and other payables 28,484 - -  -  
 40,725 18,955 151,498  147,928  

 This compares to the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting period  is as follows:

 Current Non-current  
31 December 2013 Within 6 - 12 2 - 5 More than 
 6 months months years 5 years
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Non-derivatives:
  Bank borrowings 15,165 15,203 105,872  144,041
  Bonds 4,875 3,928 21,960  96,693
  Parent company loan and other interest bearing borrowings - 666 13,326  -
  Bank overdraft 4,757 - -  -
  Trade and other payables 33,578 - -  -
Derivatives 742 720 -  -  
 59,117 20,517 141,158  240,734  

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying values of the liabilities at the balance sheet date.

In addition the Group maintains a credit facility of a €1.5 million secured overdraft available to IHI Hungary Zrt. Interest would be 
payable at the variable, overnight euribor plus 1.4% interest margin per annum.

This compares to maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting period as follows:

The Company
 Current Non-current  
31 December 2014 Within 6 - 12 2 - 5 More than 
 6 months months years 5 years
  €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Non-derivatives:    
  Bank borrowings 1,764 1,734 5,458  -
  Bonds 1,563 3,928 55,866  60,031
  Other interest bearing borrowings - 5,512 -  -
  Trade and other payables 10,837 - -  -    
 14,164 11,174 61,324  60,031  

This compares to the maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods is as follows

 Current Non-current  
31 December 2013 Within 6 - 12 2 - 5 More than 
 6 months months years 5 years
  €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Non-derivatives:
  Bank borrowings 1,600 1,571 9,000 522
  Bonds 1,875 3,928 21,960 96,693
  Other interest bearing borrowings - 666 13,326 -
  Trade and other payables 15,498 - - -  
  18,973 6,165 44,286 97,215  
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39.3 Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s income 
or the value of its holdings of its financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.  

(i) Foreign currency risk 
 The Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in 

a currency other than the functional currency of group entities, the euro.  The currencies giving rise to this risk are the Hungarian 
forint, the Russian rouble, the Czech koruna, Libyan dinar and the Great Britain pound.  In addition, the Group does not hedge 
its investments in its foreign subsidiaries and was similarly exposed to currency risk arising on the translation of the assets and 
liabilities of such subsidiaries where the functional currency at the subsidiary company level is other than the euro.  

 In respect of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept 
to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, when necessary, to address short-term mismatches. 

 Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying operations of the 
Group.  This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are entered into.

(ii) Interest rate risk  
 The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through bank borrowings and related party loans at variable interest 

rates. The Group’s interest bearing financial instruments at the reporting dates were as follows:

  The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Fixed rate instruments      
Financial assets other than cash at bank:      
Loan receivable 3,208 44,332 20,816  60,538
Financial liabilities:      
Bonds (88,912) (91,393) (88,912) (91,393)
Parent company loan and other interest-bearing borrowings (5,326) (13,457) (5,091) (13,236)  
 (91,030) (60,518) (73,187) (44,091)  
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets other than cash at bank:
Non-current -
  Loans to related company - - 54,052  54,052
Financial liabilities:        
Bank borrowings (205,013) (215,533) (8,100) (11,200)
  Other interest bearing liabilities - (71)  - -  
 (205,013) (215,604) 45,95 2 42,852  

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring adequate hedging against its exposure to changes in interest rates on interest-bearing 
borrowings due by the parent company and its subsidiaries, by entering into financial arrangements subject to fixed rates of 
interest whenever possible.

 With a view to mitigating interest rate risk, the Group entered into interest rate swap agreements with financial institutions.  
Swaps are over-the-counter agreements between the two parties to exchange future cash flows based upon agreed notional 
amounts.  Under these interest rate swap agreements, the Group agreed with the counterparties to exchange, at specified 
intervals, the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate interest amounts.

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of results for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of +/- 0.5%.  
These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. The calculations 
are based on a change in the market interest rates for each period and the financial instruments held at each    

 The Group The Company  
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Interest payable - +0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5%
31 December 2014 (447) 447 (25) 25
31 December 2013 (970) 970 (65) 65

Interest receivable -
31 December 2014 - - - -
31 December 2013 164 (164) 438 (438) 
   

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2014
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39.4 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at balance sheet date of the reporting periods under 
review may also be categorised as follows.  See note 4.16 for explanations about how the category of financial instruments affects their 
subsequent measurement.

 The Group The Company  
 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000
Non-current assets      
Investments at fair value through profit and loss - - 224,183 246,244
AFS investments at fair value through other comprehensive income - - 220,991 203,656
Reimbursement assets 21,687 22,566 - -
Loans and receivables:      
  Amounts due from group and related companies 3,208 44,332 264,896 273,984
  Cash and cash equivalents 7,967 2,303 7,967 2,303  
 32,862 69,201 718,037 726,187  
Current assets      
Loans and receivables:      
  Trade receivables 9,473 17,103 - -
  Other receivables 10,424 10,604 25,078 60,388
Cash and cash equivalents 19,480 10,248 4,730 1,158  
 39,377 37,955 29,808 61,546  
Non-current liabilities       
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:      
  Bank borrowings 182,552 190,600 5,000 8,600
  Bonds  88,912 88,893 88,912 88,893
  Other interest bearing borrowings  - 13,236 - 13,236  
 271,464 292,729 93,912 110,729  
Current liabilities      
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:      
  Bank borrowings 22,461 24,933 3,100 2,600
  Bonds  - 2,500 - 2,500
  Other interest bearing borrowings 5,326 292 - -
  Trade payables 9,301 10,591 362 394
  Other payables 5,176 8,175 7,234 10,463
  Accruals 14,007 14,805 3,241 4,641
Derivatives - 1,466 - -  
 56,271 62,762 13,937 20,598  

39.5 Financial instruments measured at fair value

 The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the balance sheet in accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy.  This hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring 
the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2: based on information other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices); and
- Level 3: information for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input to the fair 
value measurement.
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The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the balance sheet are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

 Level 2 Level 3 
 The Group The Company  

 2014 2013 2014  2013
 €’000 €’000 €’000  €’000

Assets 
Investments in subsidiaries (a) - - 224,183 246,244
Investments in associates (b) - - 220,991 203,656  
 - - 445,174 449,900  
Liabilities 
Interest rate swaps (c) - (1,466) - -  

Measurement of fair value

 The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous 
reporting period.

a) Investment in subsidiaries 
 The fair value of investment in subsidiaries have been determined by reference to the fair values of the underlying properties or 

enterprise value as outlined in note 14.1. Movements in level 3 are as indicated in note 14.1

b) Investment in associates
Investment in associates are accounted for as available-for-sale investments in the Company’s balance sheet as outlined in note 16.2.  

c) Interest rate swap agreements
 Where derivatives are traded either on exchanges or liquid over-the-counter markets the Group uses the closing price at 

the reporting date.  Normally, the derivatives entered into by the Group are not traded in active markets.  The fair values 
of these contracts are estimated using a valuation technique that maximises the use of observable market inputs, eg market 
exchange and interest rates (level 2).  Derivatives entered into by the Group are included in level 2 and consist of interest 
rate swap agreements.  

 There have been no transfers into or out of level 2 in the reporting period under review.

39.6 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

 The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at 31 December 2014:

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31 December 2014 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
    
Property, plant and equipment    
  Corinthia St George’s, Malta - - 27,557 27,557
Investment property    
  Commercial Centre in St Petersburg - 77,830 - 77,830
  Commercial Centre in Tripoli - 68,141 - 68,141
  Apartment block in Lisbon - 1,101 - 1,101
  Site in Tripoli - 29,603 - 29,603

 - 176,675 27,557 204,232

This compares to the hierarchy level used for non-financial assets measured at fair value in the previous reporting period is as follows:
  
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31 December 2013 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000
    
Property, plant and equipment    
  Corinthia St George’s, Malta - - 28,327 28,327
  Marina Hotel, Malta - - 20,896 20,896
Investment property    
  Commercial Centre in St Petersburg - 87,400 - 87,400
  Commercial Centre in Tripoli - 73,800 - 73,800
  Apartment block in Lisbon - 1,161 - 1,161
  Site in Tripoli - 29,603 - 29,603

 - 191,964 49,223 241,187
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Fair value of the Group's main property assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by independent, professionally-qualified 
property valuers.  The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with management. The valuation 
processes and fair value changes are reviewed by the board of directors and audit committee at each reporting date.

Further information is set out below.

The appraisal for property, plant and equipment was carried out using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent 
market transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the asset in question, including hotel 
room count, location, encumbrances and current use.  

The fair values of the Commercial Centres and Residential Block are estimated using an income approach which capitalises the 
estimated rental income stream, net of projected operating costs, using a discount rate derived from market yields implied by recent 
transactions in similar properties.  When actual rent differs materially from the estimated rents, adjustments has been made to the 
estimated rental value.  The estimated rental stream takes into account current occupancy level, estimates of future vacancy levels, the 
terms of in-place leases and expectations for rentals from future leases over the remaining economic life of the buildings.  The office 
buildings are revalued annually on 31 December.

The most significant inputs, all of which are unobservable, are the estimated rental value, assumptions about vacancy levels, and the 
discount rate.  The estimated fair value increases if the estimated rental increases, vacancy levels decline or if discount rate (market 
yields) decline.  The overall valuations are sensitive to all three assumptions.  Management considers the range of reasonably possible.  

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of non-financial assets classified within level 3 is as follows:
     
 Property, Investment
 plant & properties
 equipment
   €’000  €’000
    
Balance as at 1 January 2014   49,223 191,964
  Loss recognised in profit or loss:    
  -  movement in fair value of investment property    - (15,391)
Net other movements – depreciation and additions   (770) 102
Asset value assessed through value-in-use   (20,896) -  
Balance as at 31 December 2014   27,557 176,675  

 Property, Investment
 plant & properties
 equipment
   €’000  €’000
    
Balance as at 1 January 2013   50,661 191,393
  Gains recognised in profit or loss:    
  -  movement in fair value of investment property    - 571
  Gains recognised in other comprehensive income    
  -  movement in fair value of property, plant and equipment   - -
Net other movements – depreciation and additions   (1,438) -  
Balance as at 31 December 2013   49,223 191,964  

40 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The Group’s ultimate parent company is CPHCL, the registered office of which is 22, Europa Centre, Floriana FRN 1400, Malta.

CPHCL prepares the consolidated financial statements of the group of which IHI and its subsidiaries form part.  These financial statements 
are filed and are available for public inspection at the Registry of Companies in Malta.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the shareholders of International Hotel Investments p.l.c.

Report on the financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of International Hotel 
Investments p.l.c. and the individual Company financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2014 set out on pages FS-15 to FS-66, which comprise the Group income statement, 
the Group and Company statements of comprehensive income, the Group and Company 
balance sheets, the Group and Company statements of changes in equity and the Group and 
Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the Company’s financial 
statements give a true and fair view of their financial position as at 31 December 2014, and 
of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, Cap 386.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

We also have responsibilities:

• under the Companies Act, Cap 386 to report to you if, in our opinion:

- the information given in the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial 
statements,

- the company has not kept proper accounting records,
- the company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records,
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
- certain information required by the Act regarding directors’ remuneration is not 

disclosed in the financial statements, in which case we are required to include the 
required particulars in a statement in our report.

• under the Listing Rules to review the statement made by the directors that the business 
is a going concern together with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

Mark Bugeja (Partner) for and on behalf of 
GRANT THORNTON
Certified Public Accountants

29 March 2015

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the shareholders of International Hotel Investments p.l.c.


